Florida State University Libraries

Electronic Theses, Treatises and Dissertations

The Graduate School

2023

From College to Career: Connecting Student Participation in Work-Integrated Learning with Employment Outcomes

Cassandra R. Kepple

 $Follow\ this\ and\ additional\ works\ at\ the\ DigiNole:\ FSU's\ Digital\ Repository.\ For\ more\ information,\ please\ contact\ lib-ir@fsu.edu$

FLORIDA STATE UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF EDUCATION

FROM COLLEGE TO CAREER: CONNECTING STUDENT PARTICIPATION IN WORK-INTEGRATED LEARNING WITH EMPLOYMENT OUTCOMES

By

CASSANDRA R. KEPPLE

A Dissertation submitted to the Department of Educational Leadership and Policy Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Cassandra R. Kepple defended this dissertation on April 11, 2023. The members of the supervisory committee were:

> Bradley E. Cox Professor Directing Dissertation

Alysia Roehrig University Representative

Christine Mokher Committee Member

Kathy Guthrie Committee Member

The Graduate School has verified and approved the above-named committee members, and certifies that the dissertation has been approved in accordance with university requirements.

To Skip and Jo Drain,

Your love and support have never faltered and the values you taught me led me to this project. I am forever thankful.

Love, Cassandra

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

When starting my doctoral study, I was provided with many pieces of advice to successfully navigate the process. Two pieces of advice particularly stuck with me: getting a doctorate is one of the most selfish things you can do, and it takes a village. While reflecting on my experiences, I wanted to make sure to acknowledge my family, friends, and colleagues who acted as my village while I selfishly took a deep dive into earning my Ph.D. in Higher Education.

To Ben, thank you for being my main support in life, and especially during this process. Whether it took form in taking on extra chores, reading through my assignments, or joining me for social events, your dedication never faltered. I am grateful to be able to spend my life with you and beyond thankful for your support through this journey.

To Mom, Dad, and Michael, thank you for making me the person I am. My dissertation and dedication to student success, especially for students who have been traditionally underrepresented in college settings, comes directly from my upbringing. You all instilled values of passion, hard work, and empathy which drive my work on a daily basis. This first-generation college student from West Virginia would not be where she is without your love and support.

To the Dwellers (you know who you are), I do not think many people can honestly say they have talked to the same friend group on a daily basis for 10 years. Our friend group is truly special, and I am thankful to have you all as a support system – even if we are spread across the U.S. I know I can count on you all for support as well as to serve as a much-needed distraction during tough times.

To the IR Team, you all have supported me in this process from Day 1 of my internship all the way through graduation. Thank you for sharing your expertise with me and supporting me as I finish my doctoral journey and begin my career. Special shout-out to Dr. Samantha Nix. Whether acting as a mentor, friend, or fellow data nerd, you have been an invaluable advocate throughout this process, and I am truly thankful for our friendship.

To my committee, you pushed me to administer the best dissertation study I could. I am thankful for your expertise and guidance during this process. I am truly proud of this manuscript, and it would not be the same without you. Most importantly, I want to thank you, Brad, for being my advisor and mentoring me from the beginning. You have guided me through my development as a researcher and scholar over the last four years, and I could not be more grateful. I am happy that I had an advisor who thinks similarly and gets as excited over playing with data and answering questions as much as I do.

While my name will be on the official diploma, I see this accomplishment as a joint success and am fortunate I get to share it with all of you. Thank you for helping me achieve my lifelong dream of becoming a doctor.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tables	vi
List of Figures	
Abstract	viii
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. BACKGROUND & LITERATURE	10
3. METHODS	
4. RESULTS	
5. DISCUSSION	
APPENDICES	
A. APPENDIX A: SURVEY INSTRUMENT – SELECTED QUESTIONS B. APPENDIX B: IRB DETERMINATION CORRESPONDENCE	
References	
Biographical Sketch	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 Sample Characteristics
Table 3.2 WIL Terms by Corresponding Survey Items
Table 3.3 Coding of Variables of Interest
Table 4.1 WIL Participation by First-Generation Status and URM Status
Table 4.2 Secured Job Offer by WIL, First-Generation Status, and URM Status
Table 4.3 Correlation Matrix of Variables of Interest 62
Table 4.4 Regression Results Predicting WIL Participation (Step 1 of IPWRA) 65
Table 4.5 Regression Results Predicting Job Offer (Model 1) 67
Table 4.6 Predictive Probabilities of Job Offer by WIL Participation 68
Table 4.7 Balance of WIL Participation Rates By Covariate Pre – and Post-Weighting
Table 4.8 Regression Results Predicting Job Offer with First-Generation Interaction Effects (Model 2)
Table 4.9 Predictive Probabilities of Job Offer by WIL and First-Generation Interaction
Table 4.10 Regression Results Predicting Job Offer with URM Interaction Effects (Model 3)74
Table 4.11 Predictive Probabilities of Job Offer by WIL and URM Interaction
Table 4.12 Regression Results Predicting Job Offer by Number of WIL Activities (Model 4)78
Table 4.13 Regression Results Predicting Job Offer Among Transfer Students (Model 5)80
Table 4.14 Regression Results Predicting Accepted Employment by WIL (Model 6)

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 4.1 This figure shows the predictive probabilities of job offer by interaction of WIL and	d
first-generation status	73
Figure 4.2 This figure shows the predictive probabilities of job offer by interaction of WIL and	d
URM status.	/6

ABSTRACT

Students come to college with expectations that their experiences will help them secure a career after graduation (Eagan et al., 2016; Stolzenberg et al., 2020). Institutions offer work-integrated learning (WIL) experiences, which directly connect students' coursework to future careers (Cooper et al., 2010). Extant literature provides an abundance of evidence supporting a positive relationship between WIL and student success, including employment outcomes (i.e., Bist et al., 2020; Coker et al., 2017; Huber, 2010; Jackson & Bridgstock, 2021; Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005; Wyonch, 2020). While the overarching literature supports the relationship between WIL and employment outcomes, some studies have emphasized the possible equity effects WIL activities can provide to traditionally underserved populations such as first-generation students and those who identify as underrepresented racial minorities (URM) (Finley & McNair, 2013; Wyonch, 2020).

Using the quasi-experimental approach of inverse probability weighted regression adjustment (IPWRA) in the current study, I examined the presence of a relationship between WIL and employment outcomes at a large public research institution in the southeastern United States (n = 5,417). In addition to an overall relationship, I examine possible moderating effects of first-generation or URM status on the relationship between WIL and employment outcomes. The findings of this study show a significant negative relationship between participating in WIL and securing a job offer as well as a significant interaction between WIL and URM status. As WIL activities are widely offered at postsecondary institutions across the United States, the results of this study hold both practical and policy implications for students, faculty and staff, institutions, and funding agencies.

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Study Context & Problem Statement

When thinking about college, one of the questions a student often asks themselves is: What am I going to get out of this? Among freshmen entering college in Fall 2019, 83.5% cited that getting a job was very important in their decision to go to college while 73.2% cited they wanted to be able to make more money, and 78.6% wanted to get training in a specific career (Stolzenberg et al., 2020). While these are the most recently reported statistics, these reasons for attending college have historically been high throughout over 50 years of the CIRP Freshman Survey results (Eagan et al, 2016; Pryor et al., 2007).

Two pathways which students can meet these goals are securing a job with a bachelor's degree and continuing their education beyond a bachelor's degree. Evidence shows that a bachelor's degree increases lifetime earnings over a high school diploma by 75% and the increase continues to grow for each subsequent degree level obtained (CEW, 2021). One possible way a student can increase their ability to meet these goals while they are still in school is by being actively engaged in their learning, both in and outside of the classroom.

Among the opportunities for engagement is work-integrated learning (WIL). Research on WIL provides evidence that participation in these activities has a generally positive influence on student success with an emphasis on how it can prepare students to enter the workforce (i.e., Huber, 2010; Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005; Waiwaiole et al., 2016; Wan et al., 2012) While some studies show that participation in WIL helps prepare students for life after college (Bist et al., 2020; Coker et al., 2017; Jackson & Bridgstock, 2021), few look beyond preparation and examine actual employment outcomes as forms of student success. In this study, I examined

whether participation in WIL can improve students' likelihood of securing a job after graduation and ultimately be a pathway to help undergraduate students meet their goals by the time they attain their bachelor's degree.

The Study

Purpose

The purpose of this study was to examine whether engagement in work-integrated learning (WIL) leads to students having higher rates of securing employment after graduation. In this study I also examined the differential effects of participating in WIL for students with minoritized identities. Lastly, this study served as an exploration into different ways in which student success can be measured, expanding the definition to include post-baccalaureate outcomes.

Research Questions

The following two research questions guided my study:

RQ1: Are students who participate in WIL more likely to get a job offer immediately prior to graduation than their peers who did not?

RQ 2: Does a student's identity as being first-generation or an underrepresented racial minority moderate any relationships between work-integrated learning and employment outcomes?

Guiding Theories

The theories I used to guide my study are Bourdieu's (1986) theory of capital, Yosso's (2005) community cultural wealth model, and Schultz's (1961) theory of human capital, providing a foundation in both higher education and human resource development literature. The concept of work-integrated learning (WIL), as defined by Cooper et al. (2010), is central to my study as it served as the intervention in which students can participate. Using these concepts and

theories along with extant literature, I explored how gaining a combination of social, cultural, and human capital via participation in WIL can lead to higher rates of securing jobs.

Methods

In this study I used a quasi-experimental research design. More specifically, I employed the inverse probability weighted regression adjustment (IPWRA) approach using case weights with regression analyses to estimate the influence of participating in WIL on employment outcomes. Data for the study were collected using a survey for graduating seniors at a large public institution in the southeastern United States. The study combines responses to questions on the survey related to WIL and employment outcomes with institutional data related to demographics and academics (i.e., GPA and time to degree completion). The main variables of interest from the survey included involvement in WIL (e.g., internships, co-ops, clinical experience, etc.) as the primary independent variable, as well as secured job offers at the time of graduation as the dependent variable.

To answer the research questions, IPWRA was used to approximate how student characteristics predict participation in WIL. I then used logistic regression models to examine the relationship between participation in WIL and employment outcomes. I ran follow-up analyses to estimate the possible moderating effects of student characteristics on any relationship between WIL participation and employment outcomes.

Definitions

As I use multiple acronyms, terms, and constructs in this study, I use this section to provide definitions for each of these items.

Work-integrated learning (WIL) – main independent variable of interest as defined by Cooper et al. (2010); derived directly from institutional survey responses and the following activities:

practicum, internship, fieldwork, cooperative education (co-ops), service learning, clinical experiences, student teaching, and apprenticeships.

Employment outcomes – a term referring to the employment status of students following baccalaureate graduation

- Secured Job offer dependent variable of interest; directly pulled from the secured job offer variable on the institutional survey.
- Accepted Job Offer this is an alternative variable to my main dependent variable of interest, which is used in a supplemental analysis; this variable refers to whether a student who had received a job offer had accepted the offer at the time of the survey.

Capital – a term referring to what a student can possess to make them valued or successful in society; in this study, I use definitions of capital by Bourdieu (1986), Yosso (2005), and Schultz (1961).

- Bourdieu's capital theory (1986) Bourdieu developed various concepts and theories on capital and education. The three forms of capital outlined Bourdieu are economic, cultural, and social. Economic capital is directly related to money while cultural capital emphasizes knowledge and culture through various forms and social capital focuses on connections with others.
- Yosso's community cultural wealth model (CCWM) (2005) Yosso's CCWM expands upon the traditional concepts of capital as outlined by Bourdieu with a critical lens. The CCWM other forms of capital in which minoritized populations possess: aspirational, linguistic, familial, social, navigational, and resistant.

 Schultz's human capital theory (1961) – Schultz's human capital theory refers to the investment in people through training and education which leads to the development of knowledge and skills they can use to become a productive employee. Human capital is directly convertible to an economic value.

Minoritized identities – a term referring to identities which students may hold and have traditionally been not considered the "norm" of society; holding these identities may lead to a student being traditionally underserved in higher education; examples of these identities can include, but are not limited to: first-generation, underrepresented racial minority (URM) based on racial/ethnic identities, low socioeconomic status, etc.

- *First-generation status (first-gen)* a term used for students whose parents do not hold a college degree; this student characteristic is examined as a moderator on the relationship between WIL participation and securing a job offer.
- Underrepresented racial minority status (URM) a term used for students who
 identify as American Indian or Alaska Native, Black or African American,
 Hispanic or Latinx, Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander, or Two or More
 Races; students who identify as Asian, White, Nonresident Alien, or whose race is
 unknown are considered non-URM; this definition is based on IPEDs definitions;
 this student characteristic is examined as a moderator on the relationship between
 WIL participation and securing a job offer.

Inverse Probability Weighted Regression Adjustment (IPWRA) – a doubly robust quasiexperimental approach to adjust for possibly confounding in the data due to selection bias.

Delimitations

In this delimitations section, I provide justification for the decisions I have made to constrain, limit, or create parameters for my study. First, I was interested in how work-integrated learning connects with achieving career-related goals. For this reason, I limited my main independent variable to WIL and not all experiential learning activities, ultimately excluding some activities which have been researched as high-impact practices in the higher education literature (Kuh, 2008). Additionally, since my data were from a survey, I matched the activities on the survey with the pre-existing work-integrated learning (WIL) framework as outlined by Cooper et al. (2010). This framework has a body of literature supporting its examination within the international higher education context, providing justification for me to use it in this study. Lastly, I chose secured job offers as my outcome of interest as this variable matches the goals cited by students entering college, is supported in the extant literature, and is specifically asked about on the survey I used for the source of my data.

When it comes to the decision for choosing controlling variables, I have selected studentlevel characteristics which have previously shown to be related to students' college choices, experiences, and outcomes. Additionally, I examined various student characteristics as moderating variables on the relationship between WIL and employment outcomes, as the literature suggests student characteristics may lead to variation in WIL participation and higher education outcomes. Each of these decisions are supported by my review of the literature as well as the availability of data from the institution and the survey being used.

Significance

Students

Students, both current and future, are the main stakeholders for this study. Students are the ones paying for their degrees. They are the ones who are most interested in what a degree can do for them. They are also the ones typically driving decisions which will influence whether they participate in WIL. Students should be keenly interested in the results of this study because it could benefit them in increasing the value of their degree, as it relates to securing a job when they graduate. The findings of this study may enable students to make an informed decision about the activities they engage in while at school. The results can help students see the influence co-curricular activities can have on their success immediately after college and can use this information to make their time in college more worthwhile.

Researchers

This study also provides evidence regarding links between post-baccalaureate student success and specific higher education practices. This study should mostly resonate with higher education researchers as it adds to the literature and evidence related to work-integrated learning and overall student success. The findings should also interest researchers in fields such as business and economics considering the main outcome of interest focuses on successful entry into the labor market upon graduation.

Postsecondary Institutions

Institutions should be interested in the results of this study as they are the ones hosting the co-curricular activities under study. Additionally, this study can be used as evidence to support the increase in offerings of WIL experiences by the institutions themselves if there is found to be a positive relationship between WIL and employment outcomes. Alternatively, if the

findings show a null, or even negative, relationship between WIL and employment outcomes, then institutions should examine their offerings and whether they should be providing them or if they may be able to modify them to lead to more positive results.

Employers

Employers can use this study as a way to increase, or even initiate, collaborations with institutions as they relate to offering WIL experiences such as internships and co-ops. If these activities are shown to lead to better employment outcomes, then it would be mutually beneficial for institutions and employers to collaborate and offer more of these experiences to the broader student population. This can be especially beneficial for local employers and the institution's connection to its surrounding community.

Funding Entities

Funding entities such as federal and state governments, as well community partners, should be keenly interested in the results, as offering WIL, and possibly increasing them, can be costly. As many institutions receive funding contingent on their students' success, it makes sense that entities providing funding would be interested in finding out if offering these types of activities lead to better student outcomes. If they do, then these entities will be more likely to provide funding for institutions to implement these opportunities for students. If the results show a null or negative relationship between WIL and employment outcomes, then these entities will be likely to ask why these activities are being offered if they are not beneficial.

Summary/Organization

In this study I investigated whether involvement in WIL leads to an increased likelihood of securing a job. Guided by theories of capital and the conceptual framework of work-integrated learning, I used a doubly robust IPWRA approach to analyze institution- and student-supplied data from two cohorts of graduating seniors. The results can provide guidance for a wide range of stakeholders.

In the next chapter, I examine the existing literature related to students' purpose for attending college, current trends in employment outcomes, and evidence supporting participation in work-integrated learning. Using the extant research, I outline theories which guide my study through the idea of improving employment outcomes by participating in WIL while still in school. In the following chapters, I provide details about the study's data, analyses, and interpretation of the findings.

CHAPTER 2

BACKGROUND & LITERATURE

Overview

Student success can be defined broadly, from year-to-year retention to lifetime earnings. In this study, I focused on the outcome of receiving a job offer immediately prior to Bachelor's degree completion. To examine student success from this lens, it is important to review students' goals for college, corresponding employment outcomes, and what students can do throughout their undergraduate degree to improve these outcomes.

In this study, I built on the concepts of social and cultural capital as defined by Bourdieu (1986) and Yosso (2005), human capital as described in the human resources literature (Schultz, 1961), and work-integrated learning as outlined in the economics of education literature (Cooper et al., 2010). I used the various capital concepts to guide my examination of how participation in work-integrated learning (WIL) activities can connect with increased chances of gainful employment at the time of graduation. This chapter starts by providing a beginning and an end to the "story" of students' college journey: why students go to college and the state of post-baccalaureate outcomes today. I then examine extant literature connecting empirical evidence of WIL activities to the theories and concepts related to social, cultural, and human capital. By reviewing the existing literature and its connections to my guiding theories and the conceptual framework of WIL, I am able to find support for participation in WIL activities and their connection to student success. While the literatures speaks toward the purpose of WIL activities as preparing students to work once they graduate, few studies look at whether participation in these activities connects with actually securing job offers. I used these guiding theories of capital

and their connection with work-integrated learning to inform the methods and interpretation of my study.

Why College?

In UCLA's 2020 report from their Higher Education Research Institute's (HERI) Freshman Survey, 83.5% of students cited getting a job was very important in their decision to go to college, 78.6% wanted to get training in a specific career, and 73.2% wanted to be able to make more money (Stolzenberg et al., 2020). Historically, reasons for attending college related to a career have been cited by the majority of students who take the CIRP Freshman Survey, many more than those who say "to please my family" or "to make me a more cultured person" (Eagan et al, 2016; Pryor et al., 2007; Stolzenberg et al., 2019a; 2019b; 2020). Although securing employment is not the only reason students are going to college, it is one of the most prominent and consistent goals for incoming college students.

Demographic Differences in Postsecondary Goals

While the results from the CIRP Freshman Survey provide an overview of why the general population goes to college, students with varying characteristics may differ in their motivations for attending college, ranging from securing a career to helping to support their families (Bui, 2002; Eagan et al., 2017; Pryor et al., 2007). Bui (2002) found that students who identify as first-generation were more likely to cite goals related to helping their families out financially than their continuing-generation peers. Surveys such as the Baccalaureate & Beyond (2016/17), National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (2016), and Beginning Postsecondary Students Longitudinal Study (2012/17) administered by the National Center for Education Statistics collect data related to students' characteristics, plans for college and beyond, and postbaccalaureate outcomes. When asked about employment aspirations after graduating, female,

URM, Pell-eligible, first-generation, and students in the business or humanities fields cited employment plans at higher rates than their peers (NPSAS:16, 2018).

However, this emphasis on employment outcomes does not necessarily translate to getting a job. The majority of students begin college with goals related to securing employment, but do not always meet these goals. For this reason, I look to the literature about employment after graduation to determine whether goals are being achieved, and by whom.

Employment Outcomes

In the 2016-2017 Baccalaureate & Beyond, 2016 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study, and the 2012-2017 Beginning Postsecondary Students Longitudinal Study, NCES examined whether students actually meet these goals via their national surveys. In 2020, over 2 million students graduated with their bachelor's degree in America (U.S. Department of Education, Table 322.10, 2021b). Most of these students aim to secure a job (Fregoso & Lopez, 2020; Lozano & Tilman, 2016). According to the Baccalaureate and Beyond survey, over 90% of students were employed within a year of graduating (NCES, 2019a). In a follow-up survey 5 years after students started college, over 60% of the respondents reported that they were employed in a job that matched their intended area from five years earlier (NCES, 2019b).

Since 2010, the unemployment rate has decreased for all individuals, no matter their educational attainment, but those with a bachelor's degree or higher consistently have lower unemployment rates than anyone else (NCES, 2021a). Among the 2021 reports, the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS, 2022) also found that among the population 25 years and older, citizens with a bachelor's degree or higher had an unemployment rate of 3.1% as compared to high school graduates at 6.2%.

A similar pattern emerges with regard to earnings over the last decade, yet the Center for Education and the Workforce (CEW) (2021) continues to find that a person with a bachelor's degree will earn nearly 75% more over their lifetime than a person with just a high school diploma. The CEW (2021) does note that these earnings differ by field of study and other demographics, but the overall finding is that a college degree will lead to larger lifetime earnings. Additionally, the BLS (2021) finds that full-time workers with a college degree make nearly 65% more than those with a high school diploma on their median weekly earnings, and these differences only increase with higher degree levels. Evidence shows that lifetime earnings grow with each subsequent degree-level with the caveat that certain fields of study can earn more with a lower degree-level (CEW, 2021). The data consistently show that a person will have better employment and earning opportunities if they hold a bachelor's degree or higher. These increased earnings, however, depend upon students securing employment after completing their bachelor's degree. If students could increase their chances of securing a job by participating in work-related activities while in college, then they would also be increasing their chances of securing higher earnings.

Demographic Differences in Employment Outcomes

Evidence shows that there are differences in employment outcomes for students with various characteristics. When broken down by demographics, the results show that females, non-URM, non-Pell, and continuing-generation students reported employment at a higher rate (NCES, 2019a). Simultaneously, students who studied science or business reported employment at higher rates as compared to students who studied the social sciences or humanities. When looking at unemployment rates by demographics for those with a bachelor's degree or higher, the BLS (2022) also found that women (3.1%), Black or African American (4.4%), Asian (3.4%),

and Hispanic or Latino (3.9%) civilians had higher unemployment rates as compared to white (2.8%) or male (3.0%) counterparts. In addition to differences in outcomes by student characteristics, students may also struggle to reach their employment goals if their knowledge and skills do not match employers' expectations.

Employer Expectations vs. Employee Skills

Multiple studies provide evidence that there is frequently a misalignment between employers' expectations of newly graduated students' skills entering the career force (Abbasi et al., 2018; Bist et al., 2020; Garber, 2003; Jackling & De Lange, 2009). Employers often cite the need for students to have skills which align with competencies such as those set forth by the National Association of Colleges and Employers (NACE, 2022), yet students do not seem to be meeting that need (Koc & Konz, 2009; Pittenger et al., 2006). Students also recognize they need to develop those same skills employers expect (DiBenedetto & Willis, 2020; Lisá et al., 2019). A recent study by the Multi-Institutional Study of Leadership found that while students felt they had developed skills related to oral/written communication, teamwork/collaboration, and leadership, they also recognized the need for further development in these areas (Hoag, 2018). Both employers and employees/graduating students recognize the need for skills like the NACE competencies, yet there is a gap in the actual attainment of these skills.

One frequently promoted mechanism to help students develop employer-valued skills and knowledge is work-integrated learning (WIL), a collection of activities like internships and practicum, which intended to directly connect workplace and learning environments.

Work-Integrated Learning (WIL)

Work-integrated learning (WIL) activities connect the idea of experiential learning while in college with workforce development, which can improve employment outcomes for those who participate in them. Cooper et al. (2010) defined work-integrated learning as "... a process of integration between workplaces, higher education institutions, government, business and industry..." (p. i). Within their WIL framework, Cooper et al. (2010) include the following activities in which students can participate: practicum, internship, fieldwork, cooperative education, field education, sandwich course (WIL course in between semesters), service learning, and international service learning. When defining the activities which count as WIL, Cooper et al. (2010) mention that terms such as 'internship' and 'practicum' are often used interchangeably, as they are similar activities. For an activity to fall within the WIL framework, it must address the following seven dimensions: purpose, context – the workplace -, integration, curriculum, learning, partnerships, and support. These dimensions ensure that the activity has clear outcomes, is connected to both the work environment and the student's curriculum, fosters learning, and provides support to the students. Cooper et al. (2010) emphasize that if an experience is not connected to the curriculum, does not promote learning, or is not experiential, then it cannot count as work integrated learning.

In providing resources on what WIL looks like in practice, Cooper et al. (2010) also provide three models which can be used for categorizing and offering WIL: professional programs, service learning, and cooperative learning. Professional programs include activities in which there are regulations governing entrance to the field, often by some sort of credentialing board. WIL for professional majors (i.e., nursing, education, law, and engineering) would fall under this model (Cooper et al., 2010). The second model, service learning, focuses on civic engagement through connections between the curriculum and partnerships with the community. The final model, cooperative learning, is often an elective option for students where they can receive credit for combining work at a job placement with classroom learning, with a focus on

combining theory and practice (Cooper et al., 2010). Across all three of these models, Cooper et al. (2010) define work-integrated learning as a group of practices in which students can engage throughout their time in college directly connecting their learning to workforce experiences.

WIL has been an increasingly common topic in the literature over the last decade or so as the emphasis on graduate employability has grown (i.e., Clegg, 2011; Choy & Delahaye, 2011; Ferns et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2015; and Tomlinson, 2008). While this framework has been adopted more frequently in an international context than it has in the US, research on practices which fall within the framework has been published for decades. Though not necessarily using the term WIL, research related to activities such as internships, co-ops, practicum, and field experiences often use these terms interchangeably (i.e., Briel & Getzel, 2001; Main et al., 2019; Ryan et al., 1996; and Wan et al., 2012). Recognizing the transposable nature of these terms across the literature, I reference research that explicitly uses the WIL framework as well as literature examining individual activities which fall within the WIL framework in this review. The extant research on WIL and activities which are included in the framework focus on who has access to these activities, what students get out of these experiences, and overall connections to the workforce. In the following sections I provide a review of this literature and how WIL connects to students' postsecondary goals related to entering the workforce.

WIL and Employment Outcomes

The extant literature shows that participation in WIL generally has a positive relationship with student success, inclusive of outcomes related to the labor market. Literature pairing involvement in experiential learning activities like WIL and student success often look specifically at traditional measures of success such as GPA, retention, and graduation rates (i.e., Huber, 2010; Kuh, 2008; Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005; Waiwaiole et al., 2016). Other studies

show that engagement in experiential activities often leads to greater academic and social outcomes while students are in college (Bowman, 2011; Cabrera et al., 2002; Kilgo et al., 2014; Valentine et al., 2021; Zhao and Kuh, 2004). Many of these studies also look at specific WIL such as internships and field experiences (i.e., Bist et al., 2020; Coker et al., 2017; Jackson & Bridgstock, 2021), providing evidence that these activities are positively related to college success.

Using student-level data, Parker et al. (2016) found that participating in internships led to statistically significant increases in fourth-year GPA, with the strength of the positive relationship varying based on both student and institutional characteristics. Astin et al. (2001) performed a mixed methods study examining the relationship between service-learning and student success. Using longitudinal data, Astin et al. (2001) found significant positive effects of participating in service-learning on measures such as GPA, critical thinking, self-efficacy, and leadership, with most results significantly increasing if the service were directly connected to a course. In both the quantitative and the qualitative case study portion of their study, Astin et al. (2001) found that providing the opportunity to process the experience is important to the impact of the experience on the student. Through a meta-analysis of 62 studies exploring the effects of service-learning on students, Celio et al. (2011) found positive relationships among several outcomes, including self-efficacy, learning, social skills, and academic performance. Similarly, when examining the choice to participate in WIL, Ramirez et al. (2016) found that students' positive perceptions on the likelihood of a co-op influencing employment outcomes affected their choice to participate in the first place. In studies specifically looking at co-ops for engineering majors, both Main et al. (2019) and Ramirez et al. (2015) found that participation increased GPA as well as the likelihood of graduating within the engineering major.

In addition to contributing to traditional measures of student success, these studies provide evidence connecting participation in WIL to career readiness. Bist et al. (2020) interviewed senior managers who stated that interns possessed career readiness skills such as self-management, critical thinking, and a will to learn. Also using survey data, Jackson and Bridgstock (2021) asked graduates about what they valued from their participation in WIL activities. The survey responses revealed that graduates valued the experiences and skills gained from their WIL activities, with internships being perceived as enhancing employability. Even so, student success in these studies seems to only go as far as being prepared for a job and does not make the connection to actual employment outcomes. In a longitudinal study of hospitality and tourism students with internship placements in Taiwan, Wan et al. (2012) found that students' participation led to personal growth and students obtaining career-related competencies.

In a study surveying business school alumni from an institution in the United States, Gault et al. (2000) found that students who participated in internships said their internships provided them career preparation in the areas of computer applications, creative thinking, job interviewing, job networking, and relationship building. In a survey study using the terms internship and practicum interchangeably, Simons et al. (2012) reported that students participating in practicum increased their multicultural awareness, gained skills in connecting their coursework to the field placement, and both students and supervisors valued the experiences similarly. Simons et al. (2012) also collected qualitative data via their survey, finding that supervisors believed the internship enabled students to develop interpersonal and communication skills and that 38% of interns were hired at their placement site after the internship. By expanding the definition of student success beyond graduation, I was able to find existing literature directly connecting participation in WIL with employment outcomes.

Since the purpose of work-integrated learning is to connect students' learning to their future careers, it makes sense that much of the existing research connects participation in these activities to employment outcomes. Smith et al. (2015) found that employers perceived students who participated in WIL to be more "work-ready" as compared to students who did not participate, citing their attainment of essential skills, ability to connect theory to practice, and commitment to the job and workplace as being positively influenced by their participation. Jackson (2017) found that participation in job placement WIL experiences helped students to develop what they described as a "pre-professional identity".

Using data from a national survey of recent alumni in Canada, Wyonch (2020) found that students who participated in co-ops were significantly more likely to enter the workforce in a field related to their field of study, were less likely to switch jobs within three years of graduation, and have a higher salary than those who did not participate in a co-op. Similarly, in a survey filled out by 155 recent hospitality alumni from a public institution in the U.S., Dickerson and Kline (2008) found that students who participated in a co-op were most satisfied with their job, had higher salaries, and had higher job retention if the co-op was directly tied to a course within the students' curriculum. Gault et al. (2000) also found that students who participated in a true students who participated in a students who participated in a co-op was directly tied to a course within the students' curriculum. Gault et al. (2000) also found that students who did not participated in a students who participated in a students who participated in a students who participated in a co-op was directly tied to a course within the students' curriculum. Gault et al. (2000) also found that students who participated in a students who participated in a students who did not participate in internships.

While not all of the studies described above examine direct measures of employment outcomes, they provide positive evidence connecting WIL to various measures of student success, which should ultimately set a student up to be more successful in securing employment. These studies show generally positive evidence connecting WIL and outcomes, yet students with varying characteristics face barriers to WIL participation in the first place.

Differences in WIL Participation

I also explored the literature surrounding WIL access, participation, and outcomes for students with diverse characteristics. I have included WIL literature from international contexts as this research explicitly looks at these activities collectively as a group of activities which should promote better employment outcomes. To understand WIL participation and experiences within the American higher education context, I also considered research on the individual activities which are included under the WIL umbrella.

Data from multiple sources documents the frequency with which students participate in WIL activities. In 2017, NSSE reported the following participation rates for activities considered WIL: 52% of first-year students and 60% of seniors participated in service-learning, while 48% of seniors had done an internship (Kinzie & Gonyea, 2018). According to the 2016-2017 Baccalaureate & Beyond survey over 10% of recent graduates participated in a co-op, 15% in a practicum, 28% in a paid internship, and over 30% in an unpaid internship. These various reports show that many students participate in WIL activities across the nation. But not all student populations participate at similar rates.

Using NSSE data, Kinzie and Gonyea (2018) found that 52% of white senior students participated in internships while the next closest participation rates were 47% for multiracial students and 44% for Asian students. These differences are especially stark when compared to the fact that around 70% of first-year students of all races expected that they would participate in an internship (Kinzie & Gonyea, 2018). Baccalaureate & Beyond (NCES, 2019a) results show that participation differs not only by demographics, but also by WIL type. The survey results show that only 10-15% of students participate in activities they considered co-ops or practicum while approximately 30% of students participated in some form of internship. When it comes to

internships the results of the Baccalaureate & Beyond survey show that males, non-URM, non-Pell, and business majors reported being paid for their internship while females, URMs, Pelleligible, and humanities majors cited unpaid internships at higher rates (NCES, 2019a).

The extant literature provides sparse information related to which students participate in WIL by field of study. Itano-Boase et al. (2021) found that the majority of WIL opportunities available in Canada were in business or STEM fields. Findings from the 2016-17 Baccalaureate & Beyond show that participation by field of study varied depending on the type of WIL activity, but internships were consistently the activities with the highest participation (NCES, 2019a). While internships were the most common WIL activity, students in science and business participated in paid internships more often while students in social sciences and humanities participated in unpaid internships at higher rates (NCES, 2019a). Data from NSSE similarly indicate that STEM, education, and health majors were more likely to participate in WIL activities such as internships or field experiences than students in the humanities or social sciences (NSSE, 2021).

Participation rates in WIL are generally lower for students who identify as women (Moylan & Wood, 2016; Newhook, 2016; Taylor et al., 2015; Walters & Zarifa, 2008), with differing abilities (Cocks et al., 2015; Cocks & Thoresen, 2013) and those who identify as LGBTQ (Messinger, 2004). Using an ecological approach within Canada, Itano-Boase et al. (2021) found that WIL participation was lower for marginalized populations, but most significantly so for women and Indigenous students. Using NSSE data, McCormick et al. (2017) found that Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander identifying students participated in servicelearning at the higher rates as compared to their peers. While McCormick et al. (2017) found this result for service-learning, they found that white students overall participated in "high-impact

practices" at the highest rates, with American Indian or Alaska Native students participating at the lowest rates.

First-generation students also consistently reported lower rates of participation in WIL activities than their continuing-generation peers (NCES, 2019a). This finding is also supported by NSSE reports which consistently find that first-generation students participate in WIL such as internships at lower rates than their peers (Kinzie & Gonyea, 2018). Continuing-generation students were 1.3 times as likely to have participated in an internship or field experience, a finding that has been rather consistent since 2007. Nevertheless, first-generation students are more likely to be involved in service-learning, but less likely to have participated in any other WIL activities on the NSSE (2021) survey. NSSE's most recent report shows that only 54% of first-generation students participate in what NSSE calls "high-impact practices" (which include WILs like internships, field experience, and service-learning), as compared to 67% of their continuing-generation peers (NSSE, 2021). Collectively, this body of literature shows that participation in WIL activities is lower for traditionally underserved groups across the board.

Just as participation in WIL differs across student populations, so too do the outcomes associated with participation.

Differences in WIL Outcomes

Evidence shows there may be differential effects of participating in these activities for students with varying identities. The extant literature provides ample evidence that there are differences in participation rates by race and ethnicity as well as recognizes the possibility that students with minoritized identities may be discriminated against during, and even barred access to, these activities by structural barriers (Finley & McNair, 2013; Patton et al., 2015). Building on this literature, McCormick et al. (2017) examined levels of satisfaction with these activities

for students with minoritized identities. Alternative to some of the prior research, the findings showed that students with these minoritized identities rated their satisfaction with their college experience at higher rates than their same-race peers who did not participate in WIL activities.

Finley and McNair (2013) explored participation in high impact practices, including those considered WIL, and found that first-generation students had around 10-15% higher perceived gains in their learning for every additional practice they participated in as compared to first-generation students who did not participate. When examining participation in 1-2 practices, compared to their continuing-generation peers, first-generation students reported higher perceived gains in general education (2.57% point difference), practical competence (2.39% point difference), and personal and social development (1.79% point difference). The results related to the practical competence category are particularly intriguing, as this category directly connects with future employment. The authors also found that transfer students had similar perceived gains to first-generation students, and while underrepresented racial minorities also had positive perceived gains from participation, they were not as large as the effects found for first-generation or transfer students (Finley & McNair, 2013). Finley and McNair (2013) concluded that the differential gains found for traditionally underserved students who participated in these activities as compared to their peers speak toward the idea that these experiences provide "equity effects" with regard to learning (p.27).

In their study on labor market outcomes for students who participated in co-ops across Canada, Wyonch (2020) also found "equity effects" for marginalized students as compared to Canadian men. Wyonch (2020) reported that graduates with visible minorities or immigrant status received similar wages to their white male peers who also participated in co-ops. The findings from the national survey also showed that women who participated in co-ops received

similar wages to their white male peers who did not participate. For students with any of the aforementioned marginalized statuses, Wyonch (2020) found that they were more likely to have full-time employment than their peers with similar characteristics who did not participate in a coop. This means that high impact practices and activities which fall under the WIL framework could be an avenue to provide more equitable student success outcomes for our traditionally underserved students.

Expanding upon the evidence provided in the literature above, I explore theories which can help explain the mechanisms at play for both differential participation and outcomes related to WIL in the next section.

Guiding Theories

To guide my examination of the connection between participation in WIL and postbaccalaureate student success measures, I drew from concepts in the fields of higher education and human resources development. Specifically, I examine how capital theories as described by Bourdieu (1986), Yosso (2005), and Schultz (1961) connect the benefits of WIL with employment outcomes. Together, these theories outline how WIL activities may help students engage in career-related opportunities while in college, which may provide them with important skills, knowledge, and relationships which in turn may benefit them beyond graduation. The theories also provide a mechanism to make sense of the differential access to and outcomes associated with WILs.

Bourdieu

Pierre Bourdieu's theories and concepts surrounding capital and education have been developed and used over the last several decades. In 1986, Bourdieu outlined three forms of capital – economic, cultural, and social – and how they are interrelated. In his description of the various forms of capital, Bourdieu (1986) posited that cultural and social capital can ultimately turn into economic capital, which is the transactional form of capital directly related to money. As I focus on employment outcomes in this study, I emphasize various forms of cultural and social capital, with the idea that they can result in increased chances of favorable postbaccalaureate outcomes, ultimately turning into economic capital.

Cultural Capital

As defined by Bourdieu (1986), cultural capital can take on three states: embodied, objectified, and institutionalized. Embodied cultural capital focuses on the mind and body rather than physical objects, and this form of cultural capital is typically transferred to a person as they grow up from their family. Alternatively, objectified cultural capital takes the form of physical goods such as pictures and books (Bourdieu, 1986). While this form of cultural capital is not necessarily reliant on being in a family which can transfer knowledge, these forms of cultural goods tend to be more available to families who have the cultural knowledge, and economic capital, to attain them. The third form of cultural capital, institutionalized, is the form of cultural capital in which Bourdieu (1986) suggests people can gain even if they do not have the other forms. The institutionalized state of cultural capital comes in the form of educational credentialing, so the more schooling or licensure someone has, the more institutionalized cultural capital they attain. Bourdieu (1986) specifically mentions how institutionalized cultural capital in the form of educational degrees is more easily transformed into economic capital, as there is a market value based on what a person can do with their degree.

Social Capital

Bourdieu (1986) defines social capital as an accumulation of relationships, and it takes form as the resources available to a person due to their networks of relationships. Bourdieu

(1986) recognized that a person also possesses social capital based on their belongingness to a specific group such as their family, a tribe, or an organization. A person's social capital depends both on the size of their networks as well as their ability to use those connections to their own benefit. Bourdieu (1986) recognizes that social capital can be situational, with some relationships being more useful in different circumstances.

Ultimately, Bourdieu (1986) argues that social and cultural capital are most important when they are converted into economic capital. While Bourdieu's (1986) theory on capital is widely used, it has also been criticized because of its failure to recognize alternate forms of capital which individuals may leverage to their own benefit, particularly individuals who hold marginalized identitites.

A Critical Review of Bourdieu

While Bourdieu's theory on capital was not explicitly developed to influence educational policy and practice, it has been used in this way for several decades. Within the education context, Bourdieu's concepts of capital, especially cultural capital, have been used to examine students' capital prior to college (e.g., Lareau, 2003; Pitman, 2013), their experiences during college (e.g., Clegg, 2011; Morrison, 2017), and how their possession of capital translates beyond college (e.g., Bathmaker, 2021; Tomlinson, 2017). Nonetheless, Bourdieu's theories have also been criticized for their deterministic nature and emphasis on the traditionally dominant culture being the only culture which has worth. These studies often recognize how Bourdieu's various concepts of capital can be used to explain the status quo reproduced by the dominant culture and oppressive systems, but they also emphasize how this view can be harmful for students with minoritized identities and tend to take away any agency a student may have to increase their own capital (Lingard et al., 2006; Nash, 2006; O'Shea, 2016).

Tichavakunda (2019) specifically compared Bourdieu's theories to critical race theory (CRT), arguing that while traditional interpretations of Bourdieu can be problematic, the theories themselves are not necessarily at odds. In this comparison, Tichavakunda (2019) presents that both theories fight against deficit-based thinking, provide mechanisms in which society reproduces inequality, and specifically pay attention to how culture and structure interact. Tichavakunda (2019) emphasizes that the issues typically brought up with the use of Bourdieu's theories stem from the fact that his theories were specifically created using the French education system as context and cannot account for the complexities of oppression among the various identities present in American society. Tichavakunda (2019) recognizes that Yosso's (2005) cultural community wealth model is often seen as the most prevalent critique of Bourdieu, as it is founded in CRT, but argues instead that it is more of an adaptation, which can work with the complexities of the U.S. population. For this reason, I extend my review on capital theories by emphasizing the applicability of Yosso's (2005) model in this study.

Yosso

Yosso (2005) explicitly references issues with Bourdieu's (1986) concepts of capital, arguing there is too much emphasis on the capitals which only middle- and upper-class students could have in the eyes of a "hierarchical society" (p.70). In her review, Yosso (2005) references scholarship that has argued differences in educational outcomes can be attributed to the lack of cultural and social capital held by marginalized people. Yosso (2005) explains that this form of deficit thinking has led to the idea that people of color, and other marginalized people, are disadvantaged. Using critical race theory (CRT) as a lens, Yosso (2005) extended Bourdieu's theory on capital by proposing a model of community cultural wealth, which offers definitions
for various forms of capital students of color likely possess in which Bourdieu (1986) did not account for in his work.

Forms of Capital in the Cultural Community Wealth Model

Based on research among students of color, Yosso (2005) proposed six forms of capital which students may possess: aspirational, linguistic, familial, social, navigational, and resistant. Yosso's (2005) definitions of social capital connects with Bourdieu's (1986) definition of having networks of relationships. The other five forms of capital presented by Yosso (2005) extend beyond the capitals identified by Bourdieu (1986) to create a comprehensive concept of community wealth. Aspirational capital refers to a person's ability to remain hopeful for the future even when faced with barriers while linguistic focuses on the communication skills a person possesses if they have grown up speaking more than one language. Yosso's (2005) definition of familial capital emphasizes a sense of community commitment and knowledge. Navigational capital refers to the ability to navigate situations and landscapes, particularly those which were not created to be accessible for that person based on their identities. Lastly, resistant capital focuses on the skills needed to challenge inequality (Yosso, 2005). While some of these forms of capital are similar to those defined by Bourdieu (1986), Yosso's (2005) community wealth model emphasizes forms of capital which may not have been historically valued by society but can be valued across cultures and settings if recognized.

A Critical Review of Yosso

Yosso (2005) intentionally created the cultural community wealth model in response to Bourdieu's theory's limited ability to encapsulate the wealth of capital minoritized students possess. Yosso's (2005) model has been used in studies exploring the various forms of capital minoritized students bring with them to college, often with an intersectional lens. These studies

often look at the combination of identities such as underrepresented racial minorities, low socioeconomic status, and first-generation college goers, and how these identities foster certain forms of capital.

Using Yosso's (2005) model, Boettcher et al. (2002) ran focus groups to examine the assets which rural Black and Latinx students bring with them to college. The students reported having assets in the areas of familial, social, aspirational, and navigational capitals. Boettcher et al. (2022) concluded that the students used different capitals for various aspects of the collegegoing process, including but not limited to: familial to help with finding a school and major, navigational for the actual transition to campus, and social when building connections with fellow students and members of their transition program. When examining the capital held by first-generation college students and their influence on their college experiences, Okolo (2019) quantified aspirational capital using the Educational Longitudinal Study of 2002 (ELS:2002) dataset. Okolo (2019) find that first-generation students were 28.5% more likely to enroll in college and 25.6% more likely to be retained through their second year for every one standard deviation increase in aspirational capital. Similarly, O'Shea (2016) explored the experiences of first-generation college students in Australia but used a qualitative method and collected data via interviews. Among the responses from the 23 participants, O'Shea (2016) found an emphasis among aspirational, resistant, and navigational capitals, with each playing a role in how students maintained the goal to attend college as well as persist through their degree. Wick et al. (2019) took an intersectional lens to explore the use of Yosso's (2005) model with first-generation Latinx students studying abroad in Costa Rica. During their experiences, the students reported using linguistic and familial capital to connect with the community as well as aspirational and resistant capital to challenge their privilege and engage with the work they were doing as social

work students during the experience. These studies use Yosso's asset-based model to highlight that students with minoritized identities are not deficient but bring capitals with them which can influence their ability to succeed in college.

While Yosso's model is important for identifying capitals held by students from marginalized populations, it does not eliminate the relevance of Bourdieu's forms of capital, especially within a society which emphasizes cultural and social capital. Students who identify as underrepresented racial minorities, first-generation, and low socioeconomic status may come to college with various forms of capital as described by Yosso (2005), but they also stand to gain the forms of capital as described by Bourdieu (1986). For the present study, I look to both Bourdieu (1986) and Yosso (2005) for a theoretical foundation on the forms of capital students come to college with, can gain from their experiences in college, and which could help them traverse the transition between college and a job after their degree. In using guiding theories around various forms of capital, it is important to also include human capital from the field of human resource development (HRD). Similar to various definitions provided by Bourdieu (1986) and Yosso (2005), human capital directly relates to increasing the knowledge and skills of a person but more explicitly from the perspective that this investment can lead to a more productive individual and member of society.

Human Capital

Alternative to both Bourdieu's (1986) and Yosso's (2005) models of capital, human capital is conceptualized as something that is purely gained through experiences and education, and is directly convertible to an economic value. The first definition of human capital appeared in the human resource development literature by Schultz in 1961. Schultz (1961) defines human capital as an investment in humans which results in increased capacity and productivity. Schultz

(1961) provides five categories of human capital: health services which increase the lifespan; "on-the-job training"; formal education; adult extension programs; and migration patterns toward job opportunities (p. 9). Schultz (1961) argues that by investing in human capital across these five categories, both individuals and societies will benefit. While Schultz (1961) was the first to define human capital theory (HCT), Nafukho et al. (2004) reviewed the various definitions of the term across the decades that followed. Nafukho et al. (2004) synthesized the definitions of HCT across the field of human resource development, placing an emphasis on HCT's focus on education and training as investments into human resources. In these definitions of HCT, humans are considered a form of capital themselves (Nafukho et al., 2004).

A Critical Review of Human Capital

Critiques on the use of HCT in education research focus on several different areas. Jamil's (2004) critique on using HCT in education emphasizes that there are non-educational factors at play, which influence job attainment and salary. This critique does not argue that education is not a form of investment that should be valued, but rather focuses on the idea that education cannot be the only factor examined when looking at what leads to job attainment and salary. Specifically, Jamil (2004) emphasizes the need to take discriminatory practices, differences in measurement, and differences across countries into account. Similarly, Marginson (2015; 2019) argues that HCT is fundamentally flawed as it uses a linear pathway to connect education to the workforce, ignoring all of the other factors that affect employment, earnings, and status. These studies do not present arguments that HCT should not be used, but rather it needs to be used critically, as labor force outcomes do not happen in a bubble and education is only one piece of the puzzle.

Almost as if in response to the common critiques of HCT, literature supporting the use of HCT as it relates to graduate employability often combine HCT with other forms of capital and emphasize the skill development which can occur during specific experiences, especially on the job learning (Clarke, 2018; James-Constantine, 2018). While acknowledging the critiques of human capital theory, I chose to focus on its emphasis on education, training, and increased capacity of a person to do tasks. These factors directly relate to investing in a student during their experiences and how that investment connects to their employment outcomes.

The combination of these various forms of capital provides a foundation for understanding how participation in work-integrated learning can lead to increased likelihood of securing a job offer, especially for minoritized students. Some of the capitals our underserved students come to college with – for example, linguistic – are valued by employers. Yet there are other forms of capital valued by employers, which they may need to gain during their time in college – i.e., cultural, social, and human. In combining theory and the following empirical evidence, I argue that all students may be able to increase the capital sought by employers via WIL, and students with certain identities may find differential benefits from participation in these activities as compared to their peers.

Connecting WIL to Capital Theories

Existing research which connects WIL and capital theories emphasizes gains in capital as one of the mechanisms which makes WIL valuable for both student learning and graduate employability. Consideration of the varied forms of capital can help make sense of the differential rates of participation and unequal benefits of WIL.

General Benefits of WIL

There are theoretical and empirical reasons to believe participation in WIL should improve employment outcomes. Work-integrated learning provides students with the opportunity to learn in an applied setting where they may gain skills and connections they may not have access to in a traditional classroom. Theories related to various forms of capital can help to explain how WIL activities provide students with these resources, which may increase their chances of reaching their goals related to securing a job. Theories of social and cultural capital coined by Bourdieu (1986) and Yosso (2005) as well as human capital (Shultz, 1961) pair particularly well with the resources a student can gain from WIL participation.

For example, Ng et al. (2022) found that participation in WIL and development of human capital through these activities increased students' perceived employability. Students also report that the networks they establish through WIL have helped prepare them for the workforce and transition to workplace environments (Wan et al., 2012; Wyonch, 2020). Lastly, students emphasize their gain of cultural capital via WIL participation through their students' reflections on WIL making them feel more prepared to enter the workforce as well as their attainment of competencies valued by employers (Gault et al., 2000; Wan et al., 2012). Through survey and interview data, students and employers report their perceptions that WIL is an effective way to gain the various capitals needed to be successful as they enter the workforce (Bist et al., 2020; Jackson & Bridgstock, 2021; Low et al., 2016).

Differential Participation and Outcomes

Evidence shows that students with minoritized identities can have greater benefits from participating in WIL (Finley & McNair, 2013; Wyonch, 2020), yet these students are consistently participating at lower rates (i.e., Cocks et al., 2015; Messinger, 2004; Moylan &

Wood, 2016). Specifically, students who identify as first-generation or as an underrepresented racial minority are the ones seemingly missing out the most (McCormick et al., 2007; NCES, 2019a; NSSE, 2021). The lower rates of participation may be exacerbated by economic factors, as financial issues are often cited as reasons for not participating (Finley & McNair, 2013; Main et al., 2019). In interview data, students have reported that these activities can increase the time to graduation and even cost money through needing to pay for such items as rent or professional clothing (Finley & McNair, 2013; Main et al., 2019). Additionally, minoritized students may have to work while in college, limiting the time they have available to participate in WIL (Finley & McNair, 2013).

Beyond economic capital, minoritized students may not come into school with the necessary social and cultural capital needed to succeed, let alone access WIL. Ma and Shea (2019) found that campus connectedness had a significant effect on first-generation college students' perception of barriers and career outcomes, with lower connectedness leading to more barriers and worse outcome expectations. Kim et al. (2021) found that first-generation female college students face social capital challenges, as they do not always have support systems to help them navigate college experiences. Additionally, these students often do not come into school with the cultural capital related to higher education knowledge/preparedness, and often find cultural differences which make succeeding in these systems difficult (Strand, 2013). Dumais and Ward (2010) found that if a first-generation student did receive help from their parents during the application process and if their family had forms of cultural capital other than education, then they were significantly more likely to enroll in and persist through college. Schuyler et al. (2021) reviewed the literature on barriers faced by first-generation students of color and identified that institutions can increase transitional, academic, and mental health

supports, which will help provide first-generation students with the social and cultural capital needed to succeed in college.

Through a combination of quantitative analysis and student interviews, Finley and McNair (2013) found that students with minoritized racial identities and those who are firstgeneration lack cultural capital needed to participate, specifically in the sense that they may not know how to get involved in the activities or may not even know the activities exist. Getting involved in WIL also requires adapting and fitting into the social and cultural environments of the placements (Choy & Delahaye, 2011), and this can often be difficult for students who did not have access to cultural and social capital when entering college.

By presumably not having the economic capital to be able to take unpaid internships, have the time outside of working to participate in WIL, or have the money to increase their time to graduation, students of minoritized identities face an immediate barrier to participating in WIL (Baccalaureate & Beyond, 2019; Finley & McNair, 2013; Main et al., 2019). On a more conceptual level, students with minoritized identities may encounter access issues as they do not have pre-existing connections to possible WIL activities or workplaces without the social capital which is possessed by their more privileged peers. Lastly, just knowing that these activities exist and how to initiate the process is a form of cultural capital which may not be readily available to students with first-generation, URM, or low SES identities (Finley & McNair, 2013; Strand, 2013). These issues regarding traditionally valued forms of capital put minoritized students at a disadvantage when trying to access WIL. This is especially problematic as students holding these identities are the ones who could reap the most benefits from participating in these activities (Finley & McNair, 2013; Wyonch, 2020).

When examining differential outcomes for students participating in WIL, Finley and McNair (2013) spoke toward the "equity effects" of these activities for students with minoritized identities, especially for students who identify as first-gen or a racial minority. While students with minoritized identities could be bringing various forms of capital to school with them as described by Yosso (2005), they may not be coming into school with the specific kinds of capital emphasized by employers or know how to leverage the capitals they possess to fit employer expectations. Their linguistic, navigational, and resistant capital connect with competencies such as communication skills and critical thinking, which are cited by employers as skills graduates should possess (i.e., Abbasi et al., 2018; Bist et al., 2020), but not knowing the processes of a workplace setting or how to connect with prospective employers creates barriers for these students from the start.

By participating in WIL activities, these students can develop economic, social, cultural, and human capitals, adding them to the valuable capitals they already possessed when they started college (Simons et al., 2012; Smith et al., 2014; Wan et al., 2012; Wick et al., 2019). If minoritized students are able to access WIL, they stand to gain capitals which their peers may already hold, essentially helping them to "catch up" (Finley & McNair, 2013; Wyonch, 2020). The gain of these traditionally valued capitals (Bourdieu, 1986; Schultz, 1961) along with the cultural community wealth (Yosso, 2005) they already possess will ultimately make these students excellent candidates for securing a job after graduation.

Connecting the extant literature on WIL with various capital theories, I have developed the hypotheses below to guide my study on examining the influence of WIL participation on employment outcomes, with an emphasis on the differential effects which may exist for students with minoritized identities.

Hypotheses

I developed the hypotheses for this study based on the extant literature on WIL and capital theories. Previous research shows positive relationships between participating in WIL and employment outcomes, especially for traditionally underserved students. Based on this, I developed the following two hypotheses which guided my study's methodology:

- General Benefit: If a student participates in WIL, they will have increased likelihood of securing a job.
- 2. Differential Effects: The benefits of WIL will be larger for minoritized students than those without these identities.

Summary

In this chapter, I examined both theoretical and empirical reasons to expect that participation in work-integrated learning (WIL) will improve students' employment outcomes. Bourdieu (1986), Yosso (2005), and Schultz (1961) provide theories of capital which suggest how WIL can lead to increased chances of securing a job offer after graduation. The extant body of empirical literature indeed suggests that participation in WIL may be broadly connected with student success, but that those relationships may be different for students with minoritized identities, especially as they relate to race and first-generation status. I have built hypotheses from these theories and empirical evidence which model the connections between student characteristics, capital, participation in WIL, and employment outcomes. In the next chapter, I describe the method of this study based on these hypotheses, which I used to quantitatively examine the relationship between WIL and employment outcomes.

CHAPTER 3

METHODS

In this study, I aimed to investigate the relationship between participation in workintegrated learning (WIL) during a student's time in their undergraduate studies and their employment outcomes immediately after graduation. I used historical data from a large, public institution in the United States, which surveys its graduating seniors on such topics each year. These survey data are used in conjunction with institutional records related to demographics and undergraduate academic achievement. My main research question for this study was:

RQ1: Are students who participate in WIL more likely to get a job offer immediately prior to graduation than their peers who did not?

In addition to my main research question, I also examined whether the effects, if any, differ on the basis of minoritized identities:

RQ 2: Does a student's identity as being first-generation or an underrepresented racial minority moderate any relationships between work-integrated learning and employment outcomes?

Research Design

To answer my research questions, I used inverse probability weighted regression adjustment (IPWRA), a quasi-experimental approach using a logistic regression model to find the probability of participating in WIL and then using these propensity scores to weight each case in the next model to predict employment outcomes. IPWRA is a doubly robust approach, as it uses the two-step regression model with inverse probability weights to reduce sensitivity to potential model specification (Caldera, 2019; Mokher et al., 2021; Morgan & Winship, 2014). This approach was selected because students are not randomly assigned to participate in WIL,

meaning traditional regression approaches might not adequately account for unobservable and/or unmeasured factors that might otherwise bias resulting parameter estimates. This IPWRA quasiexperimental design enables me to examine the relationship between participating in WIL and employment outcomes, as well as investigate various factors which may influence this relationship.

Guiding Theories and Concepts

In this study, I combined theories related to various forms of capital with the workintegrated learning framework to explore how participation in WIL relates to rates of employment for graduates. Based on extant literature related to differences in overall employment outcomes, participation in WIL, and effects of participating by student demographics, I explored 1) whether there is a relationship between WIL and employment outcomes and 2) whether these relationships differ specifically for students with minoritized identities. My review of the existing literature on WIL and theories of capital guided the development of my research questions (listed above) as well as the following two hypotheses:

- 1. General Benefit: If a student participates in WIL, they will have increased likelihood of securing a job immediately after graduation.
- Differential Effects: The relationship between WIL participation and receiving a job offer immediately after graduation will be larger for first-generation students or URM students than for students without these identities.

Analytic Approach

As I used historical data for this study and the students were not randomly assigned to participating in WIL or not, I am unable to use an experimental design. Using a quasiexperimental design is my best choice for answering my research questions, as it allows me to

more closely approximate causal relationships between my variables without having actual random assignment. This study used the statistical approach of Inverse Probability Weighted Regression Adjustment (IPWRA). This is a two-step approach using regression analysis. The first step is to see how all of the control variables predict whether or not a student will participate in the main independent variable of interest – participation in WIL (Caldera, 2019; Mokher et al., 2021; Morgan & Winship, 2014). The second step then runs a regression model with the main dependent variable of interest – secured job offers – with all of the predictor variables in the model, including participation in WIL. In this second model, each case is inversely weighted based on the probability of treatment for the treated students and the probability of not receiving treatment for the un-treated students (Caldera, 2019; Mokher et al., 2021; Morgan & Winship, 2014). I used logistic regression for both steps in the IPWRA process, as both my dependent and independent variable of interest are categorical.

The choice to use IPWRA instead of traditional propensity score matching (PSM) has several benefits. Using the quasi-experimental approach of Inverse Probability Weighted Regression Adjustment, I am able to account for the differing likelihood of participation in WIL by weighting individual cases (Caldera, 2019; Mokher et al., 2021; Morgan & Winship, 2014). I also chose to use IPWRA for this study rather than traditional Propensity Score Matching, as it allowed me to have a propensity score for each individual student rather than having to match them to other students (Reynolds & DesJardins, 2009). This enables me to include students in my analysis that I would otherwise drop if they were not properly matched using traditional PSM.

Being able to include students with minoritized identities is vital for my examination of the existence of differential effects from participating in WIL for students with these

characteristics. My emphasis on exploring how WIL can provide equitable outcomes for minoritized students is dependent on the inclusion of traditionally underserved students in my analyses, with an emphasis on those who may have multiple minoritized identities. If I were to use traditional PSM, these students may be dropped from the study entirely (Reynolds & DesJardins, 2009). Traditional PSM matches participants between the treated and untreated groups by matching them on multiple characteristics, yet if students have multiple minoritized identities then they will not easily match with someone in the other group and are likely to be dropped out of the analysis. While IPWRA makes up for a few issues found in PSM, it is a fairly new approach that does not have a strong foothold in the field like several other quasiexperimental approaches do. Therefore, this study contributes to the methodological literature on IPWRA in the field of higher education.

Sample

This study is performed using data from two graduating cohorts from 2018 and 2019 from a large, public, four-year institution in the Southeast United States. The selected institution provides a survey to graduating students each yea,r which specifically asks about postbaccalaureate plans as well as engagement throughout their undergraduate degree. The use of this survey by the institution provides a unique opportunity to look at participation in WIL and employment outcomes across multiple cohorts.

The sample for this study included graduating students at the institution in the 2017-18 and 2018-2019 cohorts. The 2017-18 graduating cohort consisted of 8,623 students and the survey had a survey response rate around 92%, resulting in 7,894 responses. The 2018-2019 graduating cohort consisted of 8,460 students and the survey also had a response rate around 92%, resulting in 7,766 responses. Across the two cohorts, a total of 15,660 graduating students

completed the survey. As I looked specifically into students' WIL experiences while at this particular institution, I first limited my sample to first time in college (FTIC) students and excluded transfer students from my main model. As transfer students would have a different amount of time to be able to participate in WIL activities, and their demographics may be fundamentally different from FTIC students, I chose to only include transfer students in my supplementary analyses. This reduced my potential sample to 10,103 students. I then filtered out students whose primary plan was something other than employment, reducing the potential sample to 6,125 students. Lastly, I excluded any students who did not actually apply for a job, as they would be counted as false negatives for not receiving a job offer when they never even applied. This results in my final analytical sample of 5,417 students. I chose to examine these two cohorts together as one sample, as the survey instrument was the same between the two years, they were the last two cohorts who completed school before the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, and the demographic profiles of the students were similar (see Table 3.1).

Descriptive statistics related to demographics and other characteristics of my dataset are provided in Table 3.1 below.

Table 3.1

Sample Characteristics			
Student Characteristics	2017-2018	2018-2019	Total
Job Offers ^a	65.59%	63.44%	63.67%
WIL	58.90%	56.57%	57.76%
First-Gen	21.60%	25.04%	23.28%
URM	29.18%	29.26%	29.22%
Gender (female)	58.29%	58.69%	58.48%
Field of Study			
Business	32.50%	34.44%	33.45%
Science	29.65%	31.68%	30.64%
Social Science	25.53%	23.41%	24.50%
Humanities	12.31%	10.46%	11.41%
Pell	18.17%	22.05%	20.07%
ACT (mean)	27.22	27.06	27.13
Accelerated Cred Hrs (mean)	18.19	17.57	17.84
GPA (mean)	3.24	3.28	3.26
Time to Degree (mean)	3.92 years	3.92 years	3.92 years
Residency (In-State)	90.65%	89.80%	90.23%
Employed During School	75.59%	74.06%	74.84%

Note. WIL = work-integrated learning; First Gen = first-generation; URM = underrepresented racial minority; and Work = Employed During Degree.

While I only used data from a single institution, making it not generalizable to other institutions, this study provides valuable evidence on the potential influence of WIL experiences. Further, it provided a cross-sectional look at multiple cohorts of students at a public institution which is an emerging Hispanic-Serving Institution. The data are limited by being from one institution but provide a foundation for looking into the relationship between WIL and employment outcomes of a diverse array of students, which could be expanded to other contexts in later studies.

Measures and Data

In partnership with the university's department of Institutional Research (IR), I collected data related to WIL and securing employment at the time of graduation from the institution's annual survey of graduating seniors (see Appendix A). Additionally, I collected data from the IR department related to the students' demographics. My main independent variable of interest was whether or not a student participated in WIL while my dependent variable of primary interest was an indicator of whether the student had secured a job offer immediately after graduation. Based on the existing literature related to equity effects for traditionally underserved students (Finley & McNair, 2013), I used variables indicating students' first-generation status or underrepresented racial minority status to examine differential effects of WIL on employment outcomes. All other variables referenced in Table 3.1 are used as control variables.

Dependent Variables

The outcome/dependent variable for my main analyses was a dummy-coded indicator of whether the student had secured a job offer. In supplemental analyses only, I also considered an alternate outcome variable of accepted job offer. Both of these variables were directly pulled

from a question asking about the students' primary plan after graduation on the survey for graduating students at this institution.

Students were first asked for their primary plan after graduation (See Q14 in Appendix A). If they responded to the question with employment as their primary plan, they were then asked questions regarding whether they have applied for a job. To create the variable indicative of having *received* a job offer and the one indicative of having *accepted* a job offer, the IR office used a combination of responses from a question asking, "Which statement best describes your current employment status?" on the survey (Question 92 is also shown in Appendix A). A student was coded as having received a job offer if they respond to Q92 that they: (1) Have accepted a position to begin in the coming months (including residency and internship positions), (2) Have been offered a position or multiple positions, but declined offers and still searching for preferred position, (4) are Considering one or more offers, or (7) are Working in a position I plan to continue after graduation.

The difference between the received job offer and accepted job offer variables is the acknowledgement that they have already accepted an offer. A student is coded as having accepted a job offer if they respond to Q92 that they: (1) Have accepted a position to begin in the coming months (including residency and internship positions) or (7) are Working in a position I plan to continue after graduation. All of the associated questions were forced choice in the survey design, so if a student submitted the survey, then there would be no missingness within these variables.

The received job offer variable was chosen as the post-baccalaureate student success measure of primary interest in my study because it connects with the literature on students' goals for college (Eagan et al., 2016). It also matches with the WIL emphasis on the connections

between a students' curriculum and the workplace, with the goal to help connect students to employment upon graduation (Cooper et al., 2010). In using various capital theories as a guide for my study (Bourdieu, 1986; Schultz, 1961; Yosso, 2005), I recognize that there are both observable and unobservable factors that could be at play in the difference in these variables. For this reason, I am used job offers as my employment outcome because if a student has secured a job offer, they have essentially secured employment, if they so choose. This outcome was chosen rather than the variable of accepted job offer, as getting a job offer is a universally necessary prerequisite to actually becoming employed. It is also a point where students are more in control of their employment future as they are guaranteed employment if they want that particular job, yet their decisions about whether to accept a job offer may be a function of several unobserved variables. For example, some students may be able to take their time and weigh different offers, as they may possess more economic capital, and this would lead to them having a job offer but not having secured employment at the time of the survey. Preliminary data from different cohorts show that there are nearly 6% more students who respond that they have secured job offers than accepted a job offer, showing that the variables are different and leading to my decision to run supplemental analyses exploring accepted job offer as an alternative outcome.

Independent Variable of Primary Interest

My primary independent variable of interest is a dummy-coded indicator of whether a student participated in any of the 7 WILs listed in the survey. The work-integrated learning framework as described by Cooper et al. (2010) directly connects with questions on the survey about students' experiential learning experiences. Table 3.2 maps items from the survey to the activities considered WIL. I chose to examine participated in WIL as a single dichotomous variable indicative of whether the student had participated in at least one activity considered

WIL. This decision is supported by the fact that the terms are often used interchangeably by scholars and students alike (Cooper et al., 2010), and WIL has been examined as a category of activities across the literature (i.e., Clegg, 2011; Choy & Delahaye, 2011; Ferns et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2015; Tomlinson, 2008).

The WIL variable is derived from one question on the survey and includes practicum, internship, fieldwork, cooperative education (co-ops), clinical experiences, student teaching, and apprenticeships. The responses of clinical experiences, student teaching, and apprenticeships. The responses of clinical experiences, student teaching, and apprenticeships are terms identified on the survey and not direct terms outlined in the WIL framework by Cooper et al. (2010), but "clinical experiences" and "student teaching" fit within the WIL term of "field education" and "apprenticeships" fit withing the WIL terms of "internship" or "practicum" (shown in Table 3.2). As these terms can be used interchangeably based on Cooper et al.'s (2010) WIL framework, I use them collectively. I created my work-integrated learning variable by counting a student as having participated in WIL if they responded "yes" to any of the activities in the experiential learning question (Q95, shown in Appendix A). In Model 4, I use an alternative version of the WIL variable called WIL total, which is a continuous variable counting how many types of WIL activities in which a student indicated they participated.

The only two experiences from the WIL framework I do not use are "sandwich course" and "service learning." A sandwich course is an experiential learning opportunity taken between semesters, and this is not a term used within the American higher education context. Additionally, there is a question later on in the survey which asks about service-learning course participation, but this question is not forced choice and the IR Office stated that data related to this question are not reliable. For these reasons, 7 out of 9 WIL activities are represented in my study.

Corresponding Survey Item					
Practicum, Apprenticeship					
Internship, Apprenticeship					
Fieldwork					
Co-ops					
Clinical Experiences, Student Teaching					

Table 3.2WIL Terms by Corresponding Survey Items

Moderating and Control Variables

To examine the relationship between participation in WIL and employment outcomes, I also used demographic variables from the survey and institutional records. All 6 of my analytic models included a variety of control variables: gender, field of study, Pell, concorded ACT scores, accelerated credits, cumulative GPA, time to degree, residency, and employed during degree. All of the control variables except for employed during degree are pulled directly from institutional records. To create the field of study variable, I first used a crosswalk provided by the Office of Institutional Research which transforms the individual major CIP codes into 7 fields of study: Business, Health, Science, Social Science, Education, Fine Arts, and Liberal Arts. These fields of study are determined by the state's university system. For the purpose of this study and to create fewer comparison groups, I further collapsed the data into only 4 categories: Business (Business), Science (Science and Health), Social Science (Social Science and Education), and Humanities (Fine Arts and Liberal Arts). I created a time to degree variable by counting the number of years in between students' first and last semesters in their bachelor's program. This time to degree variable follows the state university system's definition. To create the employed

while in college variable, I combined responses to two questions on the survey, which asked if a student was employed on campus and if a student was employed off campus during their degree. I created the employed during college variable by counting "Yes" responses to either question.

Two additional variables – first-generation and underrepresented racial minority (URM) - were included as control variables but were also used to explore potential moderation effects of WIL on receiving a job offer. The first-generation variable comes directly from institutional records. The IR office defines first-generation based on the FAFSA and university's application questions, leading first-generation to be defined as any student whose parents do not hold fouryear college degrees. To create the URM variable, I took the race/ethnicity variable from institutional records, which uses the National Center for Education Statistics' IPEDs definitions, and scored a 0 for students who identify as White or Asian, a 1 for students who identify as American Indian or Alaska Native, Black or African American, Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander, or Two or More Races, and a 2 for Race Unknown. The decision for this scoring is based on NCES reports which show that White and Asian students make up a majority of the college student population while the other mentioned categories are minorities in this population (NCES, 2022). I created separate dummy codes for URM and Race Unknown to differentiate those groups of students from the White and Asian students. A list of all variables and how they are coded can be seen in Table 3.3.

Variable	Code					
Job Offer	0 = No					
	1 = Yes					
WIL	0 = No					
	1 = Yes					
First Gen	0 = No					
	1 = Yes					
URM	0 = White or Asian					
	1 = American Indian or Alaska Native, Black or African American,					
	Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander, Two or More Races					
	2 = Race Unknown					
Gender	0 = Male					
	1 = Female					
Field of Study	1 = Business					
	2 = Science					
	3 = Social Science					
	4 = Humanities					
Pell	0 = No					
	1 = Yes					
ACT	Score, 0-36					
Accelerated Credit	# of Credit Hours					
GPA	0 - 4.00					
Time to Degree	# of Years					
Residency	0 = Out-of-State					
	1 = In-State					
Work	0 = Not Employed					
	1 = Employed					
Total WIL ^a	# of WIL Activities (0-7)					
Accepted Job Offer ^a	0 = Has Not Accepted Job Offer					
	1 = Accepted Job Offer					
Admit Type ^a	0 = Transfer					
	1 = FTIC					

Table 3.3Coding of Variables of Interest

Note. WIL = work-integrated learning; First Gen = first-generation; URM = underrepresented racial minority; and Work = Employed During Degree.

^aThese three variables are used in supplemental analyses, not the main model: Total WIL, Accepted Job Offer, and Admit Type.

Data Reliability

As the survey specifically asks about individual WIL activities as well as employment outcomes, the data are a good match for my constructs of interest. According to the IR department, the survey is also filled out by approximately 92% of graduating seniors each year, making it a sample which closely approximates the whole population of each cohort. While the survey is filled out by the majority of the graduating cohort, it must be noted that the survey is filled out by the students and represents their employment status at a single point in time, around the time of graduation. The questions regarding participation in WIL - a dichotomous yes/no type response – are up to the respondent to self-define whether an activity they may have done falls within the category choices. All other variables were collected from institutional data (i.e., GPA and demographics), meaning they were coded consistently across both cohorts by the office directly responsible for their collection. The data used for this specific analyses underwent multiple rounds of additional review both by me and staff in the IR office to ensure accuracy. Finally, the use of data from the IR office meant there was no missing data on the variables included in my analytic models. Additionally, the survey were sent out to graduating seniors at the same time in their final semester, approximately 3 weeks before the semester ended, no matter which semester they graduated.

IPWRA Regression Models

I answer this study's research questions following an IPWRA approach similar to that employed by Mokher et al. (2021). IPWRA is a two-step approach, with the first step estimating the probability of a student participating in work-integrated learning, while the second step uses a weighted logistic regression to predict securing a job offer. In this study, my "treatment" group

was those who participated in at least one WIL (T=1), while those who did not participate were considered the "untreated", or comparison, group (T=0).

The first step of IPWRA is to use a logistic regression model to estimate the probability of participating in WIL. The following model was estimated for each student *i*:

$$P(T_i) = \frac{e^{\beta_{0i} + \beta_i X}}{1 + e^{\beta_{0i} + \beta_i X'}}$$

P is the predicted probability of selecting into the treatment (*T*) while β_{0i} represents the intercept and X stands for the matrix of covariates: first-generation, URM, gender, field of study, Pell grant eligibility, ACT composite score, accelerated credit at time of admit, final college GPA, time to degree, state residency, and employment during college. Following guidance from Reynolds and DesJardins (2009) and Morgan and Winship (2014), instead of matching students for comparison based on propensity scores as would be done in traditional propensity score matching (PSM), I re-weighted each observation according to the inverse of their propensity to participate in Work-Integrated Learning.

The observation weights (W) represent the inverse of the generalized propensity score and can be found using the following equation:

$$W_{iT} = \frac{1}{P(T_i)}$$

Once the first stage of IPWRA was complete, I then used weighted regression adjustment to predict the probability of securing a job offer. Model 1, my logistic regression model predicting this dichotomous outcome can be seen below:

$$logit(JobOffer_i) = \gamma_{0i} + \gamma_i + bX$$

In this model, y_i represents the outcomes of interest (secured job offer, where secured = 1 and not secured = 0), γ_0 represents the intercept, γ_i is the effect of participating in WIL, and X is once again the matrix of covariates representing student characteristics, with inverse probability weights (W_{iT}).

After running my models to examine the relationship between participating in WIL on securing a job offer (for Research Question 1), I then adjusted the models to examine the moderating effects of first-generation and URM status on these relationships. To answer my second research question - *Does a student's identity as being first-generation or an underrepresented racial minority moderate any relationships between work-integrated learning and employment outcomes*? – I extended my original analysis by running two additional models in which I interacted WIL participation with either first-generation or URM. The equations for these secondary analyses can be seen below:

 $logit(JobOffer_i) = b_0 + b_1WIL_i + b_2firstgen_i + b_3WILxfirstgen_i + bX$ $logit(JobOffer_i) = b_0 + b_1WIL_i + b_2URM_i + b_3WILxURM_i + bX$ Supplemental Analyses

As a robustness check to assess the consistency of my main findings, I ran three supplemental analyses replicating Model 1's structure but with alternate versions of the key variables in my primary analyses. In the first supplemental analysis (Model 4), I replaced the dichotomous WIL indicator (my main independent variable of interest) with a continuous variable reflecting the total number of WIL activities in which the student reported participating. I created this WIL total variable by counting the number of "Yes" responses to the experiential learning question (Q95) on the survey. The examination into the number of activities is supported by previous research which shows increased positive relationships when students participate in more activities (Finley & McNair, 2013).

For the second robustness check (Model 5), I reran my model with transfer students as opposed to first time in college students. While transfer students are excluded from my main

model due to difference in time at the institution and possible differences in demographics, they are a fairly large portion of the student population and their experiences with WIL and securing employment should be examined as well. Additionally, if the findings of the transfer student model are consistent with my main model, they will support the overall results of this study.

For my final robustness check (Model 6), I changed the dependent variable to be an indicator of whether the student had *accepted* a job offer. As described previously, the received job offer and accepted job offer variables are similar in construction, with the difference being whether a student was still considering offers or had already accepted one at the time of graduation. Using my guiding theories, I believe there are reasons related to capital or other phenomena which may lead to students with certain characteristics being able to sit on a job offer and not accept it at that point. In my robustness check, I looked at accepted job offer as an outcome to see if the findings are consistent with the main secured a job offer model. Performing each of these supplemental analyses provided insight into whether variations of my variables or sample provide consistent results with my main model, and ultimately support the findings of the study.

While I am able to run multiple supplementary analyses with my data as a partial test of the robustness of my primary findings, I am unable to examine every variation of the data due to the structure of the dataset. For example, the survey does not ask students when they participated in WIL activities, only whether they did or did not. For this reason, I was unable to examine timing of participation in WIL. Likewise, I have no way to measure the number of job offers a student received, only whether they have received any at all.

Strengths/Limitations

There are various strengths and limitations to this study. There are limitations related to the study being performed at a singular institution, as this makes the results not generalizable to populations at other institutions. As I use multiple sources of data and providing various controlling variables, the design of this study reduces many threats to internal validity. While a major limitation to the study is that the survey data are self-report, and responses to the questions about WIL and securing employment or education are dependent on how the student interprets the survey questions, I used institutional records for all controlling variables, which ensures consistent categorization of all other student characteristics being used. Additionally, evidence in the literature suggests that students with minoritized identities will have a lower likelihood of participating in WIL (i.e., McCormick, 2007; NCES, 2019a; NSSE, 2021), which leads to my choice of the IPWRA method, which helps account for potential selection bias and imbalanced treatment and control groups.

While the use of IPWRA helps to adjust the models for differences in participation, the statistical method cannot fully account for unobserved characteristics between the WIL participants and non-participants. I use variables such as working while in college or Pell eligibility which may be used as proxies for characteristics such as reasons why students may not participate (i.e. non-traditional age, have families, do not have time for certain activities, etc.). These variables may be able to help adjust for some unobservable characteristics but are ultimately not able to account for everything. Most specifically, IPWRA may not be able to account for selection bias based on who participates in WIL. While the regression adjustment is meant to help balance the treatment and control groups, it may not be able to account for large variations due to characteristics such as a student's field of study, which can influence

participation rates. Despite the methods I used to adjust for these characteristics, my models will never be able to account for all variables which may make the WIL participant and nonparticipants different from each other.

This study is also unique for its use of WIL as a framework within the context of US higher education, as well as its focus on actual post-graduation employment outcomes. The work-integrated learning (WIL) framework has been increasingly used over the last decade, yet it has been primarily used in an international context. Even though the WIL framework has been explored internationally, it has not been adopted as much within American higher education research. Research on American higher education students often explores individual activities which fall within the WIL framework such as internships (i.e., Gault et al., 2000; Simons et al., 2012) and co-ops (i.e., Dickerson & Kline, 2008), but there is a paucity of research on these activities as a collective framework in the U.S.

Studies which do use the WIL framework often focus on career readiness or traditional measures of student success such as GPA rather than actual outcomes (i.e., Bist et al., 2020; Huber, 2010; Jackson & Bridgstock, 2021; Wan et al., 2012). Similar to research using the WIL framework, research focusing on individual activities also tend to only go as far as career readiness (i.e., Gault et al., 2000; Simons et al, 2012; Smith et al., 2015) with few extending student success to actual employment outcomes (i.e., Dickerson & Kline, 2008; Wyonch, 2020).

A major strength of this study is that it provides a robust, quasi-experimental examination of the relationship between participation in WIL and employment outcomes for a diverse sampled of over 5,000 graduating students. This study helps to fill two main gaps within the literature – 1) using WIL in an American context and 2) extending student success beyond career readiness to actual labor market outcomes. By filling these gaps, I also add to the existing

literature while also providing evidence which can inform both practice and policy related to WIL in higher education.

Positionality

The framing and interpretation of the study is affected by my positionality. As author of this study, I recognize that I have experience with undergraduate WIL and how they affected my trajectory after college. Additionally, I have experience with experiential learning activities in general and recognize that my opinions on these experiences helped lead me to this study in the first place. Lastly, as a first-generation student, conversations around the worth of a degree are commonplace in my life. These factors all contributed to my desire to focus on the relationship between WIL and employment outcomes as well as how that relationship may be moderated by various student characteristics.

Knowing my connection to the subject material, I must acknowledge several assumptions regarding access to and utility of WIL, as well as how the variables may interact together. One such assumption is the actual attainment of a job immediately after graduation is more important than career readiness, especially for students who identify as first-generation or underrepresented racial minorities. I also believe that while experiences in college can support "career readiness", much of the knowledge and skill needed for professional success can be acquired on the job. But these graduates need to secure a job in the first place to begin their careers and be able to support themselves financially after graduation. Additionally, I expect that participating in WIL activities should increase a students' chances of securing a good job, as they are supposed to be designed to improve students' career readiness as well as connections to their future careers. These assumptions can especially affect how I built the models and how I interpreted the results.

Conscious of my positionality, I have taken several steps to address potential biases arising from these assumptions. First, my framing of the study, as well as the selection of variables and the structure of models, maps closely onto extant literature related to WIL, student employment outcomes, and how student characteristics may influence the relationship between the two. Second, I have used data derived largely from institutional records to ensure data consistency. Third, I have employed statistical methods that explicitly account for or directly test my assumptions regarding the value of WIL and the role of personal characteristics in accessing and (potentially) benefitting from WIL. Fourth, I ran multiple supplemental analyses as checks to assess the robustness of my primary findings. Finally, throughout my discussion, I make sure to connect the findings back to the literature at each step.

Summary

The purpose of this study was to explore whether there is a relationship between participation in WIL and employment outcomes immediately after graduation. Based on evidence in the literature on differential participation and outcomes related to WIL, I also examined whether first-generation or underrepresented racial minority status may moderate any relationship between WIL and job offers. To do so, I used the quasi-experimental approach of IPWRA with a sample of two graduating cohorts from a large public institution, pulling data from a survey and institutional records. Findings from my analyses can be found in the next chapter.

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS

In this chapter, I present the results of the study. I first provide a descriptive overview of the sample. Then, I provide a summary of the relationships between key variables in my analysis. Last, I review the results of my logistic regression models in which I used the IPWRA approach to answer my research questions. Within this last section, I also include results of my supplemental analyses, which I ran for robustness checks. I end the chapter with a summary of the results presented. The research questions driving this study were:

RQ1: Are students who participate in WIL more likely to get a job offer immediately prior to graduation than their peers who did not?

RQ 2: Does a student's identity as being first-generation or an underrepresented racial minority moderate any relationships between work-integrated learning and employment outcomes?

Sample Descriptive Statistics

The primary analytical sample was made up of 5,417 students who graduated in 2017-18 or 2018-19. The sample includes first-time in college (FTIC) students whose primary plan after graduation was employment and who had applied for jobs by the time they took the graduating survey. Within this analytical sample, 63.67% of the students had received a job offer and 57.76% of students had participated in WIL. Additionally, 23.28% of the students in the sample were first-generation and 29.22% of the students identified as an underrepresented racial minority (URM). While a full table describing my sample is presented in Chapter 3 (Table 3.1), I have provided a few tables below (Table 4.1 and 4.2), which show breakdowns of the sample when it comes to my main dependent and independent variables by first-generation and URM status.

Variable	Participated in WIL					
First-Gen Status						
Not First-Gen	58.71%					
First-Gen	54.64%					
URM Status						
Not URM	59.90%					
URM	53.27%					
Race Unknown	49.61%					

Table 4.1WIL Participation by First-Generation Status and URM Status

Note. WIL = work-integrated learning; First Gen = first-generation; and URM = underrepresented racial minority.

Table 4.2

Secured Job Offer by WIL, First-Generation Status, and URM Status

Variable	Secured Job Offer					
WIL Participation						
No WIL	74.21%					
WIL	55.96%					
First-Gen Status						
Not First-Gen	64.89%					
First-Gen	59.64%					
URM Status						
Not URM	64.92%					
URM	60.65%					
Race Unknown	63.57%					

Note. WIL = work-integrated learning; First Gen = first-generation; and URM = underrepresented racial minority.

As shown in the above tables, there appear to be differences in both WIL participation and job offer rates by the selected student identities. In the section below, I explore relationships between my variables via Pearson correlation and examine differences in the distribution of key variables across various identity groups via chi-square tests.

Comparison of Key Variables

In Table 4.3, I present a correlation matrix of all variables in my main model. In this matrix, I find that several variables are significantly related, but none sufficiently so as to raise concerns about multicollinearity. The highest correlation coefficient occurs between Pell eligibility and first-generation status (r = .358, p < .05), yet this is only a moderate correlation and should still be included in the regression models.

Correlation Ma	urix oj v c	iriadies o	j interest										
Variables	Job Offer	WIL	First Gen	URM	Female	Field	Pell	ACT	Accel. Credit	Final GPA	TTD	In-State	Work
Job Offer	1.00												
WIL	187*	1.00											
First Gen	046*	035*	1.00										
URM	035*	065*	.179*	1.00									
Female	037*	.067*	.063*	.035*	1.00								
Field	138*	051*	.071*	.054*	.094*	1.00							
Pell	014	019	.358*	.203*	.054*	.075*	1.00						
ACT	.010	012	158*	134*	161*	.008	143*	1.00					
Accel. Credit	022	033*	.023	.015	.023	.046*	.028*	.237*	1.00				
Final GPA	.046*	.098*	099*	080*	.213*	030*	056*	013	.131*	1.00			
TTD	.017	048*	.015	.013	123*	.016	.005	.072*	234*	321*	1.00		
In-State	.001	024	.099*	.022	002	.025	.103*	013	.120*	113*	.050*	1.00	
Work	.072*	021	.073*	001	.065*	.046*	.081*	.018	.053*	046*	010	.072*	1.00

Table 4.3Correlation Matrix of Variables of Interest

Note. WIL = work-integrated learning; First Gen = first-generation; URM = underrepresented racial minority; Field = field of study; TTD = time to degree; In-State = in-state residency; and Work = employed during degree.

*p<.05

As my key variables were job offer, WIL, first-gen, and URM, the correlations between these variables were especially important to examine. Job offer had a negative, and significant, relationship with all three independent variables of interest: WIL (r = -.187, p < .05), first-gen (r= -.046, p < .05), and URM (r(5416) = -.035, p < .05). Participation in WIL also had a negative and significant relationship with both first-generation (r = -.035, p < .05) and URM (r = -.065, p< .05). I further explored these relationships using chi-square tests.

The proportion of students who reported that they participated in WIL activities was significantly lower for those who identified as first-generation, 58.71% (not first-gen) versus 54.64% (first-gen), $\chi^2 = 6.57$, p < .05 (see distributions in Table 4.1). The proportion of students who reported that they participated in WIL activities was also significantly lower for those who identified as URM, 59.90% (not URM) versus 53.27% (URM), $\chi^2 = 19.7$, p < .001.

The proportion of students who reported securing a job offer differed significantly by WIL participation, with those who participated in WIL securing job offers at lower rates, 74.21% (no WIL) versus 55.96% (WIL), $\chi^2 = 190.4$, p < .001. (see distributions in Table 2) Students who identified as first-generation secured job offers at lower rates than their continuing-generation peers, 64.89% (not first-gen) versus 59.64% (first-gen), $\chi^2 = 11.57$, p < .01. Students who identified as URM also secured job offers at lower rates than their peers who identify as non-URM, 64.92% (not URM) versus 60.65% (URM), $\chi^2 = 8.636$, p < .01.

The results of Pearson correlations and chi-square tests show significant negative relationships, and differences, in securing job offers and participating in WIL by both first-gen and URM status. These relationships are further explored in the regression models below.

Regression Models

Using the IPWRA method, a two-step regression approach, I then examined the relationship between securing a job offer and participating in WIL as well as any possible
interaction effects between WIL and first-generation or URM status. After running the models for my research questions, I ran supplemental analyses as robustness checks. In this section, I first present the results of my main model, then my model for moderating effects, and end with my supplemental analyses. Results are presented in odds ratios and predicted probabilities.

Research Question 1: Main Model

In my main model, I examine the relationship between participating in WIL and securing a job offer while controlling for the following variables: first generation status, URM status, gender, field of study, Pell Grant eligibility, ACT scores, pre-college accelerated credit hours, final cumulative GPA, time to degree, state residency, and whether a student was employed while they were in school. As I used the IPWRA approach in this study, the first step of my analyses predicted participation in WIL while the second step then predicted securing a job offer.

Step 1: Predicting WIL Participation

The first step model predicts participation in WIL using all of the other covariates that were included in the main model in step 2 (presented in Table 4.4). The results of this model show that the following variables were significant negative predictors of WIL participation: being an URM (OR = .832, p < .01) and Race Unknown (OR = .678, p < .05); majoring in Business (OR = .500, p < .001), Social Science (OR = .694, p < .001), Humanities (OR = .759, p < .01); and having Accelerated Credit (OR = .996, p < .05). Additionally, identifying as Female (OR = 1.27, p < .001) and students' Final GPA (OR = 1.40, p < .001) were significant positive predictors of participating in WIL. In the IPWRA approach, the propensity of each student participating in WIL is inversed and used as a case weight in order to predict the relationship between WIL and securing a job offer in step 2.

WIL	OR	SE	р	95% CI
First Gen	.943	.068	.421	[.819, 1.09]
URM				
URM	.832	.054	.005	[.732, .946]
Race Unknown	.678	.125	.036	[.473, .974]
Gender - Female	1.27	.075	.001	[1.28, 1.42]
Field of Study				
Business	.500	.036	.001	[.434, .577]
Social Science	.694	.053	.001	[.598, .806]
Humanities	.759	.074	.005	[.626, .919]
Pell	1.04	.079	.623	[.894, 1.21]
ACT	1.01	.010	.157	[.995, 1.03]
Accelerated Credit	.996	.002	.040	[.992, 1.00]
Final GPA	1.40	.099	.001	[1.21, 1.60]
Time to Degree	.966	.032	.294	[.906, 1.03]
In-State Residency	.971	.096	.765	[.800, 1.18]
Employed During Degree	.925	.061	.237	[.813, 1.05]

 Table 4.4

 Regression Results Predicting WIL Participation (Step 1 of IPWRA)

Note. WIL = work-integrated learning; First Gen = first-generation; and URM = underrepresented racial minority.

*OR = Odds Ratio; an Odds Ratio < 1.0 represents a negative relationship

Step 2: Predicting Job Offer

The results of the main model (presented in Table 4.5) show that participation in WIL was a significant negative predictor of securing a job offer, holding all else equal (OR = .374, p < .001). Students who participate in WIL had 62.6% lower odds of securing a job offer than comparable students who did not participate in WIL. I examined predictive probabilities to see the difference in the probability of securing a job offer by WIL participation (shown in Table 4.6). 77.1% of students who had average values on all covariates and did not participate in WIL were predicted to have secured a job offer. In contrast, 55.7% of like-specified students who did participate in WIL are predicted to have a job offer. If an average student in the sample participated in WIL, the probability of them securing a job offer decreased by 21.4 percentage points.

Job Offer	OR	SE	р	95% CI
WIL	.374	.024	.001	[.330, .423]
First Gen	.829	.064	.015	[.712, .964]
URM				
URM	.897	.062	.115	[.784, 1.03]
Race Unknown	.993	.206	.974	[.662, 1.49]
Gender - Female	.920	.060	.204	[.810, 1.05]
Field of Study				
Business	.487	.040	.001	[.415, .572]
Social Science	.459	.038	.001	[.390, .541]
Humanities	.402	.042	.001	[.328, .492]
Pell	1.06	.088	.458	[.904, 1.25]
АСТ	1.01	.010	.382	[.989, 1.03]
Accelerated Credit	.997	.002	.185	[.993, 1.00]
Final GPA	1.57	.119	.001	[1.35, 1.82]
Time to Degree	1.10	.048	.033	[1.01, 1.20]
In-State Residency	1.08	.112	.458	[.881, 1.32]
Employed During Degree	1.58	.111	.001	[1.37, 1.81]

 Regression Results Predicting Job Offer (Model 1)

 L1005

Note. WIL = work-integrated learning; First Gen = first-generation; and URM = underrepresented racial minority.

*OR = Odds Ratio; an Odds Ratio < 1.0 represents a negative relationship

Predictive Probabilities of Job Offer by WIL Participation						
	No WIL	WIL	Percentage Point Difference			
Predicted Probability	77.1%	55.7%	-21.4			

Table 4.6

Note. Predicted probabilities reported in percentages to guide percentage point difference interpretation.

While participating in WIL was the main predictor, the results of the model related to some of the control variables also tell an interesting story. The model shows that first-generation status was a significant negative predictor of securing a job offer (OR = .829, p < .05) while URM status was not a significant predictor at the 95% significance level (OR = .897, p = .974). Additionally, final cumulative GPA (OR = 1.57, p < .001), time to degree (OR = 1.10, p < .05), and being employed while in college (OR = 1.58, p < .001) were all significant positive predictors of securing a job offer.

Balance of Covariates by WIL

Using guidance from previous research related to regression adjustment (e.g., Mokher et al., 2021; Rubin, 2001; Stuart, 2010; What Works Clearinghouse, 2017), I examined the covariate balance before and after weighting by using the standardized difference of means for students who did and did not participate in WIL. I also examined the variance ratios for each covariate pre- and post-weighting. Regression adjustment is deemed appropriate if the absolute value of standardized difference of means are less than 0.25 and variance ratios range between 0.5 and 2.0 (Rubin, 2001; Stuart, 2010; What Works Clearinghouse, 2017). Before weighting, the standardized difference of means for Science (.251) and Business (.258) were slightly over the appropriate value of .25. All other covariate balances fell withing the appropriate ranges for

standardized difference of means and variance ratios. After weighting, all covariates fell within the appropriate ranges for both measures (see Table 4.7).

	Pre-We	ighting	Post-We	eighting
	St. DM	VR	St. DM	VR
First Gen	.071	.916	.001	.998
URM Status				
Not URM	.131	.900	.004	.997
URM	.117	.897	.004	.997
Race Unknown	.052	.726	.001	.999
Gender	.136	.957	.001	1.00
Field of Study				
Science	.258*	.814	.001	1.00
Business	.251*	1.21	.001	1.00
Social Science	.029	.966	.002	1.00
Humanities	.041	1.10	.002	.996
Pell	.039	.943	.003	.996
ACT	.024	.917	.003	1.02
Accelerated Credit	.066	.919	.001	1.01
Final GPA	.198	.768	.003	.866
Time to Degree	.097	.403	.002	.775
In-State Residency	.050	1.15	.003	.993
Work	.043	1.05	.001	1.00

Note. St. DM = Standardized Difference of Means; VR = Variance Ratio; First Gen = firstgeneration; and URM = underrepresented racial minority; Work = Employed During Degree. *indicates statistic beyond accepted range – St. DM > .25 or VR < .5 or >2.0

However, based on anecdotal evidence on certain programs (e.g., Education majors) who are required to participate in WIL, I took an extra step to examine more granular data related to

field of study. To do this, I expanded my examination of field of study to the 7 categories defined by the state from the 4 I used in my models. In the post-weighting analysis for both standardized difference of means and variance ratios for all 7 fields of study, only one measure fell outside the acceptable range: Education (variance ratio = 3.54). This finding shows that there may be an imbalance for Education majors even after weighting, so interpretation of the results as they relate to Education majors should be done with some caution.

Research Question 2: Moderating Effects

To answer my second research question, I ran the same regression model as my main model with the addition of interaction effects either between WIL and first-generation status (Model 2) or WIL and URM status (Model 3). Results from these regression models are discussed in the following sections and presented in Tables 4.8 and 4.10.

First-Generation Status

The results of this model (presented in Table 4.8) show that there was not a significant interaction effect between WIL and first-generation status (OR = .903, p = .474). In addition to reviewing the p-value for significance at the 95% level, I also looked to the model specifications and predictive probabilities to assess significance. The main model had a Pseudo r² = .0720 and Wald chi2 = 400.61 while the model with the first-generation interaction had a Pseudo r² = .0721 and Wald chi2 = 403.98. The changes in these model specifications are minimal. As a final check on the interaction, I ran margins to find predictive probabilities. The results of this model did not show any statistically significant interaction at the 95% level. When I ran predictive probabilities of securing a job offer for this model, they continued to show a negative relationship between participating in WIL and job offers (shown in Table 4.9).

Table 4.8

Regression Results Predicting Job Offer with First-Generation Interaction Effects (Model 2)

Job Offer	OR	SE	р	95% CI
WIL	.383	.0279	.001	[.332, .442]
First Gen	.877	.101	.254	[.700, 1.10]
WIL x First Gen	.903	.129	.474	[.683, 1.19]
URM				
URM	.897	.062	.115	[.784, 1.03]
Race Unknown	.989	.205	.958	[.660, 1.19]
Gender - Female	.919	.060	.198	[.809, 1.04]
Field of Study				
Business	.487	.039	.001	[.415, .572]
Social Science	.459	.038	.001	[.390, .540]
Humanities	.402	.042	.001	[.328, .493]
Pell	1.07	.088	.444	[.906, 1.25]
ACT	1.01	.010	.369	[.989, 1.03]
Accelerated Credit	.997	.002	.181	[.993, 1.00]
Final GPA	1.57	.120	.001	[1.35, 1.82]
Time to Degree	1.10	.048	.035	[1.01, 1.20]
In-State Residency	1.08	.112	.463	[.880, 1.32]
Employed During Degree	1.58	.111	.001	[1.38, 1.81]

Note. WIL = work-integrated learning; First Gen = first-generation; and URM = underrepresented racial minority.

*OR = Odds Ratio; an Odds Ratio < 1.0 represents a negative relationship

	No WIL	WIL	Percentage Point Difference
First Gen			
Not First Gen	77.6%	57.1%	-20.5
First Gen	75.3%	51.3%	-24.0

Predictive Probabilities of Job Offer by WIL and First-Generation Interaction

Table 4.9

Note. Predicted probabilities reported in percentages to guide percentage point difference interpretation.

If a student who does not identify as first-generation participated in WIL, their probability of securing a job offer decreased by 20.5 percentage points as compared to those who did not participate in WIL. Similarly, if a student who does identify as first-generation participated in WIL, their probability of securing a job offer decreased by 24.0 percentage points as compared to those who do not participate in WIL. While students' probability of securing a job decreased with participation in WIL and with being first-generation, most of this change was related to WIL participation. Figure 4.1 visually shows that there was not an interaction, as the lines in the graph do not cross. This is consistent with interpreting the p-value from the regression model of WILxFirstGen.



Figure 4.1. This figure shows the predictive probabilities of job offer by interaction of WIL and first-generation status.

Underrepresented Racial Minority Status

For Model 3, I replaced the WILxFirstGen interaction with a WILxURM interaction (see Table 4.10). The results of Model 3 show that there was a significant interaction effect between WIL and URM status at the 95% level (OR = .640, p < .001). In addition to reviewing the p-value for significance at the 95% level, I also I ran predicted probabilities (see Table 4.11).

Job Offer	OR	SE	<u>р</u>	95% CI
WIL	.424	.032	.001	[.365, .492]
First Gen	.829	.064	.015	[.712, .965]
URM				
URM	1.16	.124	.180	[.936, 1.43]
Race Unknown	.866	.244	.611	[.498, 1.51]
WIL x URM				
WIL x URM	.640	.087	.001	[.490, .836]
WIL x Race Unknown	1.28	.505	.539	[.587, 2.77]
Gender - Female	.918	.060	.190	[.807, 1.04]
Field of Study				
Business	.488	.040	.001	[.416, .573]
Social Science	.458	.038	.001	[.389, .539]
Humanities	.404	.042	.001	[.330, .496]
Pell	1.07	.089	.444	[.905, 1.25]
ACT	1.01	.010	.415	[.988, 1.03]
Accelerated Credit	.997	.002	.182	[.993, 1.00]
Final GPA	1.56	.120	.001	[1.35, 1.82]
Time to Degree	1.10	.048	.031	[1.01, 1.20]
In-State Residency	1.08	.112	.478	[.878, 1.32]
Employed During Degree	1.58	.111	.001	[1.37, 1.82]

 Table 4.10

 Regression Results Predicting Job Offer with URM Interaction Effects (Model 3)

Note. WIL = work-integrated learning; First Gen = first-generation; and URM = underrepresented racial minority.

*OR = Odds Ratio; an Odds Ratio < 1.0 represents a negative relationship

	No WIL	WIL	Percentage Point Difference
URM Status			
Not URM	76.4%	57.8%	-18.6
URM	78.9%	50.4%	-28.5
Race Unknown	73.7%	60.2%	-13.5

Table 4.11Predictive Probabilities of Job Offer by WIL and URM Interaction

Note. Predicted probabilities reported in percentages to guide percentage point difference interpretation.

If a student who does not identify as URM participates in WIL, their probability of securing a job offer decreased by 18.6 percentage points as compared to like-specified students who did not participate. Similarly, the probability of securing a job offer for students whose race is unknown decreased by 13.5 percentage points if they participated in WIL. Meanwhile, if a student who identifies as URM and participated in WIL, their probability of securing a job offer decreased by 28.5 percentage points. Not only did URM students have the largest decrease in percentage points if they participated in WIL (-28.5) as compared to non-URM and race unknown students, but they also went from being the group who had the highest predicted probability of securing a job to the lowest. This evidence is consistent with interpreting the pvalue from the regression model of WILxURM as well as the changes across the models showing a better fit when comparing the main model and the URM interaction model. Figure 4.2 visually shows that there was an interaction, as the lines in the graph cross. All of this provides evidence of the interaction between WIL and URM as the significant negative relationship between WIL and securing a job offer was statistically significantly greater for students who identify as URM.





Supplemental Analyses

In addition to the 3 models I ran to answer my research questions, I also ran supplemental analyses to assess the consistency of findings amid minor variations in model specification and sample. I first ran a version of my main model and exchanged my binary WIL independent variable with a continuous version indicating the number of WIL activities independent variable. My second supplemental analysis also used my main model, but instead of examining FTIC students, my analytical sample included only transfer students. My third and final supplemental analysis again used my main model, but in this one I exchanged the dependent variable of *secured* a job offer to *accepted* a job offer. The results of these analyses are presented below.

Change in Independent Variable: Binary WIL to Continuous Number of WIL Activities

Model 4 used all of the same variables as Model 1, with the exception of the WIL total variable rather than the binary WIL variable (see Table 4.12). The WIL total variable is a continuous variable measuring the number of WIL activities in which a student participated. The responses for this variable ranged from 0 to 7 activities. This model continued to show a significant negative relationship between participating in WIL activities and securing a job offer (OR = .565, p < .01). This means that for every additional WIL activity in which a student participates, the odds of them securing a job offer decreased by 43.5%.

Table 4.12

Job Offer 95% CI OR SE р WIL Total [.521, .613] .565 .023 .001 First Gen .838 .065 .022 [.721, .975] **URM Status** URM .895 .061 .106 [.782, 1.02] Race Unknown .986 .198 .944 [.665, 1.46] Gender - Female .937 .061 .315 [.825, 1.06] Field of Study **Business** .527 .042 .001 [.451, .617] Social Science .517 .043 .001 [.440, .609] Humanities .416 .043 .001 [.340, .509] Pell 1.07 .089 .433 [.907, 1.25] ACT 1.01 .010 .333 [.990, 1.03] Accelerated Credit .998 .002 .266 [.993, 1.00] Final GPA 1.68 .001 [1.45, 1.95] .128 Time to Degree 1.12 .052 .013 [1.02, 1.23]In-State Residency 1.07 .112 .508 [.873, 1.31]**Employed During Degree** 1.62 .113 .001 [1.41, 1.86]

Regression Results Predicting Job Offer by Number of WIL Activities (Model 4)

Note. WIL = work-integrated learning; First Gen = first-generation; and URM = underrepresented racial minority.

*OR = Odds Ratio; an Odds Ratio < 1.0 represents a negative relationship

Change in Analytical Sample: FTIC to Transfer Students

With Model 5, the difference from Model 1 was the analytical sample. In this analysis (presented in Table 4.13), I created a new analytical sample to examine transfer students rather than FTIC students. This new sample included 3,446 students. Additionally, I was no longer able to include ACT scores or accelerated credit as predictor variables because these data were not available for transfer students. Otherwise, the model was structured identically to Model 1.

The results of this model continued to show a statistically significant negative relationship between participation in WIL and securing a job offer (OR = .501, p < .01). The odds of a transfer student who participated in WIL securing a job offer was 49.9% less than a transfer student who did not participate in WIL.

Table	4.13
-------	------

Regression Results Predicting Job Offer Among Transfer Students (Model 5)					
Job Offer	OR	SE	р	95% CI	
WIL	.501	.037	.001	[.434, .579]	
First Gen	.910	.073	.244	[.777, 1.07]	
URM Status					
URM	.814	.067	.012	[.693, .956]	
Race Unknown	.448	.076	.001	[.321, .624]	
Gender - Female	.848	.064	.029	[.731, .983]	
Field of Study					
Business	.616	.062	.001	[.505, .751]	
Social Science	.674	.065	.001	[.558, .813]	
Humanities	.454	.059	.001	[.352, .585]	
Pell	.877	.074	.120	[.744, 1.03]	
Final GPA	1.36	.108	.001	[1.17, 1.59]	
Time to Degree	1.09	.038	.009	[1.02, 1.17]	
In-State Residency	1.11	.209	0.562	[.772, 1.61]	
Employed During Degree	1.21	.098	.019	[1.03, 1.42]	

1. .. II OM () (115) л ъ ъ T c a ,

Note. WIL = work-integrated learning; First Gen = first-generation; and URM = underrepresented racial minority.

*OR = Odds Ratio; an Odds Ratio < 1.0 represents a negative relationship

Change in Dependent Variable: Secured Job Offer to Accepted Employment

Model 6 used all of the same predictor variables as Model 1, with accepted employment as the dependent variable rather than secured job offer (presented in Table 4.14). The sample only included the 3,449 students who indicated that they had received a job offer. Results of this model show a negative and statistically significant relationship between participation in WIL and accepting employment (OR = .185, p < .001). This means that the odds of students who had participated in WIL, and received a job offer, actually accepting employment were 81.5% lower than the students who did not participate in WIL. When compared to Model 1 (see Table 4.6), Model 6 shows even lower odds for students accepting employment once they have received an offer as compared to securing a job offer in the first place if those students participated in WIL.

Accepted Employment	OR	SE	p	95% CI
WIL	.185	.020	.001	[.150, .228]
First Gen	.955	.116	.704	[.753, 1.21]
URM Status				
URM	.862	.095	.179	[.695, 1.07]
Race Unknown	.794	.235	.436	[.445, 1.42]
Gender - Female	1.42	.140	.001	[1.17, 1.72]
Field of Study				
Business	.879	.110	.302	[.688, 1.12]
Social Science	.523	.064	.001	[.412, .664]
Humanities	.670	.115	.020	[.478, .938]
Pell	.766	.095	.032	[.600, .978]
ACT	1.00	.015	.909	[.972, 1.03]
Accelerated Credit	1.00	.003	.593	[.995, 1.01]
Final GPA	2.21	.263	.001	[1.75, 2.79]
Time to Degree	1.14	.074	.048	[1.00, 1.29]
In-State Residency	.845	.152	.351	[.594, 1.20]
Employed During Degree	1.22	.141	.089	[.971, 1.53]

 Table 4.14

 Regression Results Predicting Accepted Employment by WIL (Model 6)

Note. WIL = work-integrated learning; First Gen = first-generation; and URM = underrepresented racial minority.

*OR = Odds Ratio; an Odds Ratio < 1.0 represents a negative relationship

Each of the supplemental analyses were consistent with findings from Model 1 even when examining slightly different forms of my independent variable of interest, my dependent variable, and a different subset of students. Collectively, results further support the conclusions from my primary analysis in Model 1: there is a negative relationship between participation in WIL and post-graduation employment outcomes. In the next chapter, I discuss the meaning and importance of these findings.

CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION

In this chapter, I discuss the findings and implications of the study. I begin the chapter by providing a review of the study and its purpose. I then discuss the findings, examining them by each research question and providing explanations founded in extant literature. I follow the discussion of the findings with sections on this study's contribution to the literature, implications and recommendations, and ideas for future research. I end the chapter with a conclusion of the study.

Review of the Study

The majority of students cite reasons related to securing a job as important to their decision to attend college (Eagan et al., 2016; Pryor et al., 2007). While students across the nation attend college to prepare them for a career, not all students secure jobs after graduation at the same rates. Many institutions offer work-integrated learning (WIL) opportunities for students, which are designed to help students reach their career goals by connecting their coursework to career-related experiences. Evidence from previous research shows that participation in WIL is positively related to traditional student success measures such as GPA and graduation rates (i.e., Huber, 2010; Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005) as well as job-related success such as career preparation and even employment outcomes (Bist et al., 2020; Jackson & Bridgstock, 2021; Simons et al., 2012), yet there is a paucity of research examining direct connections between WIL and securing a job offer. In addition to overall positive relationships between WIL participation and student success, Finley and McNair (2013) and Wyonch (2020) found that participation in WIL activities by students with minoritized identities leads to equity effects related to students' perceptions of learning and securing jobs. In exploring how WIL

connects with student success, multiple studies find that the gain of various forms of social, cultural, and human capital through WIL help the students to succeed (Gault et al., 2000; Ng et al., 2022; Wan et al., 2012).

The data for this study come from a large, public, research institution in the southeastern United States. The analytical sample consists of 5,417 FTIC students whose primary postgraduation plan was employment and who had applied for a job by the time they took the survey for graduating students from the 2017-2018 and 2018-2019 graduating cohorts. Student responses to the survey related to employment plans, employment outcomes, and participation in WIL were paired with institutional records from the Office of Institutional Research.

While there is support across extant literature for the connection between WIL and employment outcomes, the majority of this research has been performed in an international context (i.e., Clegg, 2011; Ferns et al., 2014; Tomlinson, 2008). In this study, I look toward previous research as well as concepts using various capital theories (Bourdieu, 1986; Schultz, 1961; Yosso, 2005) to guide my exploration of any relationship between WIL participation and employment outcomes immediately after graduation at an American institution. In addition to using the WIL framework in an American context, my study contributes to the literature by using the IPWRA analytical approach as well as explicitly exploring the possible moderating effects of first-generation and URM status on the relationship between WIL and employment outcomes. I discuss the findings of these models below.

Discussion of Findings

The results of my main analyses (Model 1) provide evidence of a significant *negative* relationship between participating in WIL activities and securing a job offer by the time of graduation. Model 2 resulted in no interaction effect for first-generation status. Model 3 provided

evidence that there is a significant negative interaction effect for underrepresented racial minorities (URM). Two of the three additional robustness checks (Models 4 and 5) yielded similar results. The results of all five models run contrary to expectations grounded in both empirical and theoretical literature related to WIL, employment outcomes, and capital.

Previous literature sets up expectation that the relationship between WIL and employment outcomes should be positive. Theories of capital suggest that WIL activities should provide students with the necessary capital to secure a job. Policymakers and educational practitioners believe WIL should have a positive influence on students' employment outcomes and continue to broadly offer these activities. Yet, the results of my study run counter to each of these expectations. Instead, my results lend some quantitative credence to findings from qualitative studies showing that URM students – and other minoritized student populations – may face discrimination and other barriers related to WIL (Cocks & Thoresen, 2013; Moylan & Wood, 2016; Patton et al., 2015). For these reasons, I use the following three sections to explore potential explanations for my findings.

Explanations for Findings

The findings of a significant negative relationship between participating in WIL and securing a job offer are contrary to much of the previous literature on WIL and student success as it relates to employment outcomes (i.e., Bist et al., 2020; Coker et al., 2017; Jackson & Bridgstock, 2021; Wyonch, 2020). Most, but not all, of the previous research on WIL provided positive evidence between participating in WIL and securing a job – the exact opposite of the results of this study. The results of my study are also inconsistent with expectations derived from prior literature on social, cultural, and human capitals, which has traditionally shown a positive

relationship between what is gained during college and activities like WIL and employment outcomes (i.e., Bist et al., 2020; Coker et al., 2017; Jackson & Bridgstock, 2021; Wyonch, 2020).

Because my results run contrary to the bulk of previous literature, I revisited the few studies which did not show a positive relationship in hopes they may provide clues as to why WIL might not work as typically expected. I also considered alternate/novel reinterpretations of capital-related theories and their implications. In so doing, I have generated three potential explanations for my primary findings.

Explanation 1: Context/Methods

Perhaps the most straightforward explanation for my findings relates to the context of the study and the methods used for data collection. I performed this study at a single university. As all students in the sample come from the same institution, there may be something about the students or the institution that is atypical. When examining how the context of my study compared to others which supported the relationship between WIL and student success, I found a few differences in the samples and institutional contexts. For example, Finley and McNair's (2013) study included 25,336 students from 38 institutions in the Pacific Northwest and had the following demographic breakdowns (as compared to my study in parentheses): 51% first-gen (vs. 23.3% first-gen) and 22% URM (vs. 29.2% URM). Alternatively, Wyonch's (2020) study used data from the National Graduating Survey that is taken by college graduates not in the US, but in Canada.

Additionally, it is important to note factors within the sample which could be influencing the results. Students receive the survey if they have applied to graduate. Students in degree programs such as Elementary Education can do a 5-year program where they receive their Bachelor's Degree and then their Master's Degree. While education students are participating in WIL at high rates, they appear to be securing job offers at lower rates. Some of this finding can be connected to students who fill out the survey at the time of their Bachelor's graduation but who are moving on to their Master's Degree immediately after. This is not true for all majors who fall within Education, and there are only 112 Education majors in the study, but it could be influencing the results as they relate to Education majors.

It is also important to note economic fluctuations which may lead to differing results. In 2018, the unemployment rate across the United States dropped to a 49-year low at 4.1% overall and 2.1% for civilians with at least a bachelor's degree (Blank & Edwards, 2019). Since only 63.7% of the analytical sample of this study had received a job offer at the time of the survey, their employment rates were quite different from the national context. The differences in both sample, institutional characteristics, and national context could help to explain why the results of this study vary so much from previous literature.

Adding on to demographic and regional differences, these students may also come to college already possessing much of the economic, human, social, and cultural capital commonly expected to be gained while in college. The sample of this study had fewer first-generation (NASPA, 2019) and fewer Pell-eligible students (NCES, 2022) as compared to the national enrollment. The sample also had an average ACT score of 27.1 while the national average in 2014 (when these students may have taken the exam) was 21.0 (ACT, 2014). These data points are just a few of the sample characteristics, but they all show that the students in the sample are less likely to be first-generation or Pell eligible, and more likely to have higher average ACT scores than college students across the nation. Each of these characteristics point to the students possibly being able to have access to more forms of capital when entering college than the average student.

88

Beyond demographic differences, the students in the sample may be gaining capital from other experiences while in college, so the opportunity to gain these capitals during WIL are not only limited to WIL activities. There may be requirements set in place for non-WIL coursework, which connects with future careers via social and cultural capital, meaning that students who do not participate in WIL are also gaining these capitals, enabling them to be just as, if not more, successful in their job searches. For example, certain majors may require a first-year seminar or capstone course where professionals in the field come to speak to the students and connect with them. There are also resources on campus such as the Career Center, which offers multiple career fairs and professional development opportunities, such as resume reviews, throughout the academic year. If students are using these resources, then they could be gaining both cultural and social capital without participating in WIL.

In addition to the context of the student population and the institution, the results could be explained in relation to the methods of data collection. First, the survey is sent out to students approximately three weeks before their graduation date. Most surveys are completed within those three weeks before degree conferral. This is a different data point than the data used by the federal government, as the Baccalaureate & Beyond survey looks at employment within a year after graduation (NCES, 2019a) or the National Graduate Survey used in Canada and by Wyonch (2020), which examines employment three years after graduation.

Beyond the timing of the survey, there may be some issues related to the survey instrument and how the students interpret the question related to WIL activities. While there is a singular question on these activities, it just lists the name of the 8 experiential learning opportunities which map onto WIL activities (see Table 3.2) and asks students if they participated in any of the activities during their time at the institution. Since the names of the activities are not defined in the survey question, a student may not know to call their WIL experiences by those terms. Also, students may have participated in WIL activities early on in their time at college while they are not being asked about their participation until the end of the semester in which they are graduating, leading to a recency issue. These factors could lead to students who had participated in the activities to incorrectly answer that they had not participated.

Nevertheless, several elements of my study cast some doubt on whether methodological and contextual factors can wholly account for the differences between my findings and much of the previous literature. First, I used multiple years of data, had a complete data set, and the results were in line with preliminary analyses using other cohorts. Second, the IPWRA method is a doubly robust approach which ensured the inclusion of all students in the sample, and my robustness checks were largely consistent with the results of my main model. These reasons lead me to consider two further potential explanations for these results: poor WIL implementation or students having negative experiences during WIL, both of which could ultimately influence their ability to gain or use various forms of capital, and subsequently could relate to their likelihood of getting a job.

Explanation 2: Poor WIL Implementation

The nature of these results may come down to the implementation of WIL. Research has shown that the implementation of WIL is more important than just identifying an activity as one which fits within the framework (Kinzie et al., 2020; Kuh & O'Donnell, 2013). There are supposed to be structures in place to encourage students to reflect on their experiences and WILs are supposed to be directly connected to the student's curriculum (Cooper et al., 2010). WIL is expected to help students gain various forms of capital as it directly connects their degree with their future career (Cooper et al., 2010). The knowledge, skills, and connections which students are expected to gain during WIL directly connect with the forms of social and cultural capital regularly cited by employers when looking for new hires (DiBenedetto & Willis, 2020; Gault et al., 2000; Lisá et al., 2019; Ng et al., 2022; Wan et al., 2013). Thus, when properly implemented, WIL should directly connect students with employers in their field. This connection should occur whether those employers are their WIL supervisors, or their WIL supervisors connect them with future employers. Studies have shown that relationship building during WIL is important to student learning, development, and satisfaction in the workplace environment (Arthur et al., 2022; Wan et al., 2013).

The postsecondary institution providing these WILs is responsible for proper implementation of these facets of WIL. If there is a lack of oversight or connection to the curriculum, then activities assumed to be WIL (or labeled as such) would not actually qualify as WIL within Cooper et al.'s (2010) definition and may not provide benefits to students as they should. Alternately, WILs may be implemented inconsistently and ultimately harm a student's outcomes rather than provide them with benefits. If WIL is implemented poorly, a student may not reflect on their experiences and reach the intended outcomes.

Further, proper implementation requires good communication and partnerships between the institution and the WIL placement. As Choy and Delahaye (2011) found, these partnerships are often difficult to maintain. Lack of oversight from the institution on the implementation of WIL may lead to a disconnect between the curriculum and what is offered to students by the WIL placement. When the two sides of the partnership do not agree, do not communicate, or do not have shared standards for the experience, students may not benefit from these experiences. If the opportunity to build relationships between students and industry members is not provided because of improper implementation, then students are missing out on gaining vital forms of social capital. In addition to relationship building, WIL offers a unique opportunity to learn from experts in the field in a professional setting (Cooper et al., 2010). Yet, if the opportunity to gain connections with employers and learn from them, as well as reflect on the experience, is hindered by the lack of a proper partnership between the institution and the placement, students will miss out on experiences in which they could gain multiple forms of cultural capital. Without knowing more about the activities students are considering as WIL on the survey, there is no way to tell if those WILs have been implemented in a way which follows the guidance of scholars like Cooper et al. (2010).

Explanation 3: Negative Student Experiences

While poor implementation by the postsecondary institution could undermine WIL effectiveness, so could negative student experiences within the WIL work environment. If a student has a negative experience during their WIL placement, then it is reasonable to assume that they would not want to find employment related to that experience. Two studies (Cocks & Thoresen, 2013; Moylan & Wood, 2016) remind readers that students' experiences as part of WIL are not universally positive. The dataset of my study only asks whether a student participated in a WIL activity and does not ask the student about their experiences during the activity. The structure of the data makes it impossible to know whether a student had a good experience. While I do not have data on the quality of students' experiences, the explanation of them having bad experiences is supported by the lack of equity effects for first-generation status or URM, and even more so for the magnification of negative WIL effects for URM as demonstrated by the interaction effect in Model 3. The negative interaction between URM

identities and WIL participation implies that something is going on which further disadvantages students who are already underserved.

These findings could be explained by students having bad experiences during WIL at multiple levels. WIL is supposed to help students develop career-related skills (Cooper et al., 2010), but if a student is asked to only perform menial tasks, are not trained in advanced skills by their WIL supervisor, or receive poor work supervision during WIL, they will not benefit from these activities as they should. In addition to these practical obstacles to having a good WIL experience, previous research suggests that students with minoritized identities may also experience discrimination during WIL (Patton et al., 2015). There is a documented history on the negative relationships between perceived racial discrimination and factors such as job attitudes, employee health, and perceptions of a diversity climate at work (Triana et al., 2015). Such evidence supports the logic that if a student faces discrimination in their WIL workplace environment, they will not perceive the WIL as a good experience and may reconsider their efforts to pursue a career related to that experience.

The possibility of negative WIL experiences is especially concerning for minoritized students. It is expected that students with minoritized identities may have more capital to gain from these experiences as they have traditionally not had prior access to gaining these forms of social, cultural, and human capital as often as their majoritized peers (Finley & McNair, 2013; Main et al., 2019; McCormick et al., 2007; NCES, 2019a; NSSE, 2021; Strand, 2013). The previous literature suggested participation in WIL would provide first-generation students with the forms of capital which are traditionally valued by employers (e.g., cultural capital via communication and problem-solving skills and social capital via connections with industry members) (DiBenedetto & Willis, 2020; Gault et al., 2000; Lisá et al., 2019; Ng et al., 2022;

93

Wan et al., 2012). The gain of these employer-cited capitals in addition to the capitals which they already possess – often including things like resistant and linguistic capital– should lead to more equitable outcomes as evidenced by Finley and McNair (2013) and Wyonch (2020). Finley and McNair (2013) found that participation in these kinds of activities led to minoritized students perceiving greater gains in their learning compared to their majoritized peers, especially in the area of practical competence. Indeed, evidence from Wyonch (2020) shows that minoritized students who participated in a co-op secured full-time jobs at higher rates than their similar peers and secured salaries which were comparable to white male co-op participants.

But if a student has a bad experience during their WIL placement, then it also makes sense that they would not build positive professional connections (social capital) or knowledge (cultural and human capital) – commonly reported outcomes of WIL, which would be expected to increase students' ability to get a job. Poor experiences could also be reducing students' ability to gain cultural and human capital as their bad experiences could overshadow any gain of knowledge and skills during the activity. If bad experiences are happening broadly for the students in this sample during WIL, then it could help to explain the main findings of the study. If these bad experiences are more often happening to the students who identify as URM – which is supported by previous research (Patton et al., 2015) – then it could help to explain the interaction effects found in my third model.

Ultimately, the results of the study could be a function of all three explanations. The findings open up inquiry on what about WIL in this context is leading to results which are largely contradictory to prior research and theory. If WIL activities are not designed based on research or theory and are being implemented improperly, then students may have a bad

experience and it could ultimately harm their chances of securing a job. The results of the study warrant caution in telling all students that participation in WIL can help them.

Contribution to the Literature

In this section, I discuss the various contributions my study makes to the literature. I begin the section by discussing the contributions made by my findings. I then provide an overview of the contributions made by my study as it relates to my use of the WIL framework and the IPWRA methodological approach.

Contributions from Findings

While I began this study assuming the results of my main model would support the overwhelmingly positive evidence of the relationship between WIL and employment outcomes which exists in the literature, my results say otherwise. The findings of my study show a significant negative relationship between WIL and securing a job offer. These results are an important contribution to the literature as they challenge common beliefs about the value of WIL. While my findings contradict much of the WIL literature, they do reinforce the small body of previous literature, which rejects the assumption that just doing WIL means there will be good outcomes. Rather, as found by Kinzie et al. (2020) and Kuh and O'Donnell (2013), the actual implementation and careful oversight of WIL activities is needed to ensure students are having good experiences and meeting their learning outcomes.

In addition to my main findings, the results related to moderating effects from firstgeneration and URM status contribute to the literature in a similar way. My results show interaction effects with URM status but not first-generation status. There is something about these my study's sample/context, institutional implementation, and/or student experiences which do not align with previous literature. The students in this sample appear not to be gaining the kinds of capital that would lead to positive employment outcomes. Something is happening during WIL within this sample which is either hurting, or just not helping, minoritized students in their pursuit of a career. Further, my results shows that activities like WIL cannot just be put into practice without understanding the unique context of the institution and the specific needs of participating students. My findings also show that more research needs to be done to examine how the implementation of WILs can either lead to significantly positive or significantly negative relationships with employment outcomes.

Use of WIL Framework in an American Context

While there is a multitude of studies which look at WIL activities individually in an American context (i.e., Briel & Getzel, 2001; Main et al., 2019; Ryan et al., 1996; and Wan et al., 2012), the WIL framework as a collective of activities has not been as widely adopted in this country. Therefore, my study contributes to the literature by being among the early studies to explore WIL as a collective framework in the United States. As WIL is used widely in higher education policy and practice in comparative countries such as Australia, the United Kingdom, and Canada, it would be logical if the American higher education system were to adopt this framework as well. Most of the activities which fall within the WIL framework are already provided at U.S. institutions, they are just typically evaluated individually rather than as a collective of activities. The adoption of this framework within American higher education research could be useful as a way to explore experiential learning related to employment across fields of study, as the types of activities often differ by fields but essentially have the same goals - to connect learning to future employment (Cooper et al., 2010). My study provides an example of how the WIL framework may be used at a large, public research institution in the United States, which can be replicated within other American postsecondary contexts.

Use of IPWRA Approach

In addition to using WIL as a framework in my study as a new way to conceptualize career-related experiential learning in American higher education, I also use a methodological approach which has not yet been widely adopted in our field: inverse probability weighted regression adjustment (IPWRA). As my study explicitly examines moderating effects of firstgeneration status and underrepresented racial minorities on the relationship between WIL and employment outcomes, I needed to use a methodological approach which would include every student in my sample. While traditional matching approaches could be used to answer my research questions, students with multiple minoritized identities would be likely dropped from the study, as they would not match with another student. This would be problematic because it would get rid of the students from my sample who are often underserved, would possibly get rid of the students whose experiences I wanted to explore in my secondary and tertiary research questions, and would ultimately reduce my overall sample. IPWRA allows me to include all students in my sample, ensuring I am able to accurately explore the experiences of students who historically have not had equitable access to college let alone WIL, and who have had lower success rates as they relate to both college and their careers. My study contributes to the higher education literature by using IPWRA, a quasi-experimental methodological approach which allows for the inclusion of traditionally underserved students who often get excluded from quantitative research.

This study contributes to the literature on multiple levels. My findings provide context to the literature related to work-integrated learning and employment outcomes in a higher education setting. The methods I used in the study also provide insight into ways we can ensure traditionally underserved students are not only included but emphasized in quantitative research. Beyond contributions to the literature, my study has multiple implications related to policy and practice within our field.

Implications and Recommendations

The primary stakeholders in this study are college students. As the majority of students want to go to college to help them in their pursuit of a career (Eagan et al., 2016; Pryor et al., 2007), it is imperative that higher education institutions are helping students meet these goals. Work-integrated learning is supported in the research as a collective of experiential learning activities which help connect students' coursework to their future careers (Cooper et al., 2010). While the majority of previous research shows a positive connection between WIL and student success – both during and after college (i.e., Bist et al., 2020; Coker et al., 2017; Huber, 2010; Jackson & Bridgstock, 2021; Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005; Wyonch, 2020) – my study provides evidence that not all WIL experiences are the same, and the relationship may not always be positive. In framing the implications and recommendations from my study, I explore three areas: practice, policy, and future research.

Practice

Institutions and faculty should be involved in the development and operation of WIL experiences, from start to finish. They should use prior research and data to develop these experiences as well as evaluate them to make sure students are actually getting what they need out of the experience. Evidence shows that proper implementation of WIL activities is more important than just offering the activities (Kinzie et al., 2020; Kuh & O'Donnell, 2013). If activities are to be considered WIL, then they should be directly connected to the curriculum as well as provide students opportunity for reflection on their experiences (Cooper et al., 2010). If

institutions or departments are requiring, or even regularly offering, WIL activities, it is their responsibility to oversee these activities.

As activities in the WIL framework are already regularly offered at institutions across the United States, my biggest recommendation is to immediately institute consistent evaluations and ways to improve WIL. Regular program evaluations would ensure students are receiving the support they need and are having experiences where they are able to connect their coursework to their future careers. When creating or updating WIL activities, institutions and departments can draw upon the WIL framework by Cooper et al. (2010), empirical research on WIL, and even look to the implementation of these activities and related policies in countries where they have been successful, such as Australia, the UK, and Canada. Proper evaluation would allow for institutions to ensure WIL experiences are connected to the curriculum, examine whether students are meeting learning outcomes, and provide opportunity to for continuous improvement. Institutions should look to projects examining the quality of experiences like the HIP Quality Project being led by Indiana University's Center for Postsecondary Research (Kinzie et al., 2020). By using prior research and data to develop WIL and ways to evaluate it, institutions can ensure they are properly implementing the activities and offering experiences to students which can connect them to their future careers.

Policy

While the above recommendations focus more on practice, there are also several implications of my study related to policy at the institutional, and even departmental, level. First, proper implementation requires active communication between the institution and WIL partners. As Choy and Delahaye (2011) found, partnerships are difficult to maintain, but communication between the various parties is vital. If there are policies set from the beginning which create a
structure for WIL and ensuring the institution and WIL partners are regularly communicating, then they could help to ensure proper implementation from the beginning. Assuming these activities already exist in one form or the other, I return to my suggestion that regular evaluation, involving both the institution and the WIL partners, should be implemented immediately. This evaluation will ensure that policies for implementation are being followed and will provide an important aspect of the active communication between all stakeholders.

In addition to policies related to implementation and evaluation, institutions need to have policies set in place if those evaluations uncover issues. Most specifically, my study not only shows a negative relationship between WIL and securing a job offer, but also provides evidence that students who identify as underrepresented racial minorities are having negative experiences during WIL which relate to even more negative employment outcomes as compared to their non-URM peers. These findings connect with research which show that historically underserved students may have bad experiences in their WIL placements (Patton et al., 2015), which can negatively influence the relationship between WIL and employment outcomes. Institutions and need to have processes in place to address issues when they arise, especially if students experience discrimination or a lack of support from their placements. These policies should address the issues by having structures in place to help students who have had bad experiences and to make changes so future student experiences are positive. These policies need to address issues at the student, institutional, and partner levels.

Beyond students, institutions, and WIL partners, several funding sources should also pay attention to the results of this study. WIL experiences require funding and partnerships to succeed, and these forms of support can be provided by individual donors or professional organizations as well as various levels of government. Since WIL connects students to future careers, the activities require funding to operate, whether it be directly via paying students during internships or indirectly by providing students with materials to complete the experiences. As policies related to providing these opportunities continue to be developed, those who fund these activities will want to make sure their funding is being used properly.

Future Research

Since the main results of the study show a negative relationship between participating in WIL and employment outcomes, future research should be conducted to further explore these findings. In this section, I discuss ideas for future research directly related to my research questions as well as other significant results I found along the way.

WIL and Employment Outcomes

My study did not provide results which were expected based on previous research or my conceptual framework. This may be due to the specific context in which I performed the study. To explore this further, I would suggest that this study's methods be replicated within other American postsecondary institutional contexts. By replicating the methods of the study in other contexts, the results of this study could turn out to be context specific, or if other institutions find the same results, then there might be something about WIL which is fundamentally not working within American higher education. If the latter is found, then I suggest a comparative study be performed to investigate why WIL supports traditional measures of student success as well as employment outcomes in some contexts but not others. Additionally, replication of using securing a job offer as the main outcome could provide more evidence toward the direct relationship between WIL as a possible intervention for increasing job market success. Further exploration into the use of the WIL framework in an American context as well as exploring

relationships specific to employment outcomes hold implications for broadly providing these activities across institutions.

Exploration Into Other Variables

There is not one variable which predicts student success, whether it be during college or afterward. Much of the WIL literature focuses on connecting participation in the activities to traditional student success measures like GPA or graduation rates (i.e., Huber, 2010; Pascarella & Terenzini, 2005). In this study, I chose to expand the definition of student success to employment outcomes. I suggest that another study be performed using this data and look into the relationship between WIL and those more traditional measures of student success as well. I believe this research is especially warranted considering the counterintuitive results of my main model. It would be intriguing to see what the relationship looks like with variables such as GPA or time to degree with WIL within this context. The results of my study related to my other control variables, especially field of study and employed while in college also provide openings for more inquiry related to both WIL and employment outcomes.

Additionally, further research should examine how students who do not participate in WIL spend their time while in college. As seen with the employed during college variable in my study, there could be other activities in which a student participates that could be providing them with similar experiences and forms of capital that I assumed they could gain through WIL experiences. If students who do not participate in WIL are gaining these skills and forms of capital in different ways, then a closer look into how those kinds of activities could help students, especially traditionally underserved students, secure job offers is warranted.

Alternative Methods

I would especially suggest that the relationships between WIL and student success should be explored qualitatively as well as quantitatively. Based on the results from my study, especially with the negative relationship between WIL and so many of my variables, I believe that a qualitative study could dig into the nuance of these results and help to figure out why the results do not tell a straightforward story quantitatively. By using qualitative methods, students' experiences which lead to them participating in WIL, their experiences during WIL, and their experiences connecting these activities to their employment outcomes can be further explored. Further research, both qualitative and quantitative, can help to inform stakeholders on how WIL is being implemented, how students are experiencing them, and how these activities may be leveraged as a possible intervention to help students meet their employment goals.

Conclusion

If students are coming to college with goals directly related to securing employment with their degree, then it is imperative that universities aim to help students meet these goals. While students with a variation of characteristics have these goals, it is also recognized that student success is not equitable for all students. More specifically, employment outcomes differ across student characteristics, with students who are traditionally underserved in higher education securing employment at lower rates than their peers. In this study, explored the relationship between work-integrated learning (WIL) and employment outcomes to see if WIL could be a mechanism to help students reach their employment goals by the time of bachelor's degree completion. Contrary to the majority of research related to WIL and employment outcomes, the results of this study do not indicate a positive relationship between the two. Instead, it provides evidence that a significant negative relationship exists, and that this relationship may be moderated by certain identities such as URM status. Additionally, supplemental results of this study provide insight into the relationships between securing a job offer and variables such as gender, field of study, and whether a student works during college.

While the main model of this study is contradictory toward the majority of research regarding WIL, it provides insight into the complexity of the relationship between WIL and employment outcomes and the idea that WIL is not a "one size fits all" kind of concept. The results of this study hold implications for both policy and practice at the individual program, institutional, and even governmental levels. This study answers the questions: "Are students who participate in WIL more likely to get a job offer immediately prior to graduation than their peers who did not?" and "Does a student's identity as being first-generation or an underrepresented racial minority moderate any relationships between work-integrated learning and employment outcomes?" and simultaneously opens up more room for inquiry related to work-integrated learning, student success as it relates to employment outcomes, and the intersection of identities with both WIL and employment outcomes. While I have offered three potential explanations for the results of this study, each of these explanations were made in an effort to make sense of the overarching finding that WIL is negatively related to employment outcomes. Whatever the explanation, the finding that WIL is negatively related to employment outcomes raises serious doubts about the efficacy and equity of these experiences.

APPENDIX A

SURVEY INSTRUMENT - SELECTED QUESTIONS

In this study, I use selected questions related to students' participation in work-integrated

learning (WIL) and securing job offers from an exit survey sent to all graduating students.

Additional data related to student characteristics are collected via institutional record. The

selected questions from the survey and their associated response options are included below.

Your "primary plan" is the ONE post-college activity that will be your focus after graduation. If you plan to do more than one of the activities below, you will have an opportunity to share that information later in the survey.

Q14 Please select the statement which MOST CLOSELY describes your PRIMARY plan IMMEDIATELY after graduation.

Employment (seeking, applying or secured, full-time or part-time, internship, paid or unpaid)
(1)

Continuing education (applying or admitted to graduate school, professional school, or other post-college education) (2)

 \bigcirc Military service (3)

O Volunteering (e.g. AmeriCorps, community service, etc.) (4)

 \bigcirc Starting or raising a family (5)

 \bigcirc Taking time off (6)

Q92 Which statement best describes your current employment status?

- Have accepted a position to begin in the coming months (including residency and internship positions) (1)
- \bigcirc Working in a position I plan to continue after graduation (7)
- Have been offered a position or multiple positions, but declined offers and still searching for preferred position (2)
- \bigcirc Considering one or more offers (4)
- \bigcirc Searching or waiting on offers (5)
- \bigcirc Will begin searching for a position in the coming months (6)

The survey will now present you with a series of questions about any internships or other forms of experiential learning in which you may have participated. Please indicate your participation by checking the boxes next to the activities listed.

Q95 Internships & Experiential Learning

Check the activities in which you were engaged during your time at [Redacted]. (Select all that apply.)

- o Internship
- Cooperative education (co-op)
- o Practica
- o Field Work
- o Student Teaching
- \circ Apprenticeship
- o Clinical
- \circ Leadership
- o Fellowship
- o Other
- None of the above

APPENDIX B

IRB DETERMINATION CORRESPONDENCE

FLORIDA STATE UNIVERSITY

OFFICE of the VICE PRESIDENT for RESEARCH



NOT HUMAN RESEARCH

October 18, 2022

Cassandra Kepple

Dear Cassandra Kepple:

On 10/18/2022, the IRB staff reviewed the following submission:

Title of Study:	From College to Career: Connecting Student
	Participation in Career-Related Experiential Learning
	Activities with Post-Baccalaureate Outcomes
Investigator:	Cassandra Kepple
Submission ID:	STUDY00003641
Study ID:	STUDY00003641
Funding:	None
IND, IDE, or HDE:	None
Documents Reviewed:	Citi Training Certificate, Category: CITI Training
	Completion Documentation;
	CRK-SBS Protocol-From College to Career,
	Category: IRB Protocol;

The IRB staff determined that the proposed activity is not research involving human subjects as defined by DHHS and/or FDA regulations.

IRB review and approval by this organization is not required. This determination applies only to the activities described in the IRB submission and does not apply should any changes be

made. If changes are made and there are questions about whether these activities are research involving human subjects in which the organization is engaged, please submit a new request to the IRB for a determination. You can create a modification by clicking **Create Modification / CR** within the study.

<u>COVID-19 Information for Research Involving Human Subjects</u>: Note that the U.S. is operating under the national emergency <u>Proclamation 9994</u> concerning the COVID-19 pandemic and that this national emergency remains in effect until rescinded or terminated by the President of the U.S. (go <u>here</u> for the Proclamation letter). Conditions are dynamic and related policies or guidance evolve accordingly; as applicable, refer to the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention <u>website</u> specific for universities or refer to our COVID-19 and Human Research Studies <u>web page</u> to learn more about how you should or may protect persons (whether vaccinated or unvaccinated) involved in any of your in-person research activities.

Sincerely,

Office for Human Subjects Protection (OHSP) Florida State University Office of Research 2010 Levy Avenue, Building B Suite 276 Tallahassee, FL 32306-2742 Phone: 850-644-7900 Email: <u>humansubjects@fsu.edu</u> OHSP Web: <u>https://ohsp.fsu.edu</u>

REFERENCES

- Abbasi, F. K., Ali, A., & Bibi, N. (2018). Analysis of skill gap for business graduates: Managerial perspective from banking industry. *Education* + *Training*, *60*(4), 354–367. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ET-08-2017-0120</u>
- ACT (2014). ACT profile report national. <u>https://www.act.org/content/dam/act/unsecured/documents/Natl-Scores-2014-National2014.pdf</u>
- Arthur, B., Guy, B., Armitage, E., LaBarre, M., & O'Connor, S. (2022). "Difficult but worth it": Exploring the experiences of women in engineering during co-op. *Experiential Learning & Teaching in Higher Education*, 5(1), 55–62.
- Astin, A., Vogelgesang, L., Ikeda, E., & Yee, J. (2000). How service learning affects students. *Higher Education*, 144.
- Bathmaker, A.-M. (2021). Constructing a graduate career future: Working with Bourdieu to understand transitions from university to employment for students from working-class backgrounds in England. *European Journal of Education*, *56*(1), 78–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12436</u>
- Bist, S. S., Mehta, N., Mehta, D., & Meghrajani, I. (2020). Employers' perception regarding employability skills of management students undergoing internship. *International Journal of Work-Integrated Learning*, 21(2), 145–161.
- Blank, A., & Edwards, R. (2019, May). Tight labor market continues in 2018 as the unemployment rate falls to a 49-year low. *Monthly Labor Review*.
- Boettcher, M. L., Lange, A., Hanks, S., & Means, D. R. (2022). Rural black and latinx students: Engaging community cultural wealth in higher education. *Journal of Research in Rural Education (Online)*, 38(1), 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.26209/irre3801</u>
- Bourdieu, P. (1986). The Forms of Capital. In J. Richardson (Ed.), *Handbook of Theory and Research for the Sociology of Education (pp. 241-258)*. New York: Greenwood.
- Bowman, N. A. (2011). Promoting participation in a diverse democracy: A meta-analysis of college diversity experiences and civic engagement. *Review of Educational Research*, 81(1), 29–68.
- Briel, L., & Getzel, E. (2001). Internships in higher education: Promoting success for students with disabilities. *Disability Studies Quarterly*, 21(1), Article 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.18061/dsq.v21i1.254</u>

- Bui, K. V. T. (2002). First-generation college students at a four-year university: Background characteristics, reasons for pursuing higher education, and first-year experiences. *College Student Journal*, *36*(1), 3–12.
- Cabrera, A. F., Nora, A., Crissman, J. L., Terenzini, P. T., Bernal, E. M., & Pascarella, E. T. (2002). Collaborative learning: Its impact on college students' development and diversity. *Journal of College Student Development*, 43(1), 20–34.
- Caldera, S. (2019, March 12). Techniques for robustness & threats to inference: Inverse probability weighted regression adjustment. <u>http://sites.utexas.edu/prc/files/IPWRA.pdf</u>
- Celio, C. I., Durlak, J., & Dymnicki, A. (2011). A meta-analysis of the impact of servicelearning on students. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 34(2), 164–181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/105382591103400205</u>
- Center on Education and the Workforce (2021, October 6). *The college payoff: More education doesn't always mean more earnings*. <u>https://cew.georgetown.edu/cew-reports/collegepayoff2021/</u></u>
- Choy, S., & Delahaye, B. (2011). Partnerships between universities and workplaces: Some challenges for work-integrated learning. *Studies in Continuing Education*, *33*(2), 157–172. https://doi.org/10.1080/0158037X.2010.546079
- Clarke, M. (2018). Rethinking graduate employability: The role of capital, individual attributes and context. *Studies in Higher Education*, *43*(11), 1923–1937. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2017.1294152
- Clegg, S. (2011). Cultural capital and agency: Connecting critique and curriculum in higher education. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, *32*(1), 93–108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01425692.2011.527723</u>
- Cocks, E., & Thoresen, S.H. (2013). Barriers and facilitators affecting course completions by apprentices and trainees with disabilities, NCVER, Adelaide.
- Cocks, E., Thoresen, S. H., & Lee, E. A. L. (2015). Pathways to employment and quality of life for apprenticeship and traineeship graduates with disabilities. *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education*, 62(4), 422–437. https://doi.org/10.1080/1034912X.2015.1025714
- Coker, J. S., Heiser, E., Taylor, L., & Book, C. (2017). Impacts of experiential learning depth and breadth on student outcomes. *Journal of Experiential Education*, 40(1), 5–23. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053825916678265
- Cooper, L., Orrell, J., & Bowden, M. (2010). *Work integrated learning: A guide to effective practice*. Taylor & Francis Group.

- DiBenedetto, C. A., & Willis, V. C. (2020). Post-secondary students' perceptions of career readiness skills. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 61(1), 44–59.
- Dickerson, J. P., & Kline, S. F. (2008). The early career impact of the co-op commitment in hospitality curricula. *Journal of Teaching in Travel & Tourism*, 8(1), 3–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15313220802252183</u>
- Dumais, S. A., & Ward, A. (2010). Cultural capital and first-generation college success. *Poetics*, 38(3), 245–265. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.poetic.2009.11.011</u>
- Eagan, M.K., Stolzenberg, E.B., Ramirez, J.J., Aragon, M.C., Suchard, M.R., & Rios-Aguilar, C. (2016). *The American freshman: Fifty-Year trends*, 1966-2015. Higher Education Research Institute, UCLA.
- Ferns, S., Campbell, M., & Zegwaard, K. E. (2014). Work integrated learning (pp. 1–6). Higher Education Research and Development Society of Australia (HERDSA Inc). <u>https://researchcommons.waikato.ac.nz/handle/10289/9196</u>
- Finley, A., & McNair, T. (2013). Assessing underserved students' engagement in high-impact practices. With an assessing equity in high-impact practices toolkit. In Association of American Colleges and Universities. Association of American Colleges and Universities. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED582014</u>
- Fregoso, J. & Lopez, D.D. (2020). *Research brief: 2019 college senior survey*. Higher Education Research Institute, UCLA.
- Garber, J. (2003). Getting a job. New York: Barnes and Nobles Books.
- Gault, J., Redington, J., & Schlager, T. (2000). Undergraduate business interships and career success: Are they related? *Journal of Marketing Education*, 22(1), 45–53.
- Hoag, B. (2018). Career readiness: Findings from the big ten MSL coalition. <u>http://leadership.illinois.edu/sites/default/files/Big10%20MSL%20Career%20Readiness.</u> <u>pdf</u>
- Huber, B. (2010). Does participation in multiple high impact practices affect student success at Cal State Northridge?: Some preliminary insights. California State Northridge Office of Institutional Research.
- Itano-Boase, M., Wijesingha, R., Cukier, W., Latif, R., & Hon, H. (2021). Exploring diversity and inclusion in work-integrated learning: An ecological model approach. *International Journal of Work-Integrated Learning*, *22*(3), 253–269.
- Jackling, B., & De Lange, P. (2009). Do Accounting Graduates' Skills Meet The Expectations of Employers? A Matter of Convergence or Divergence. Accounting Education, 18(4–5), 369– 385. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09639280902719341</u>

- Jackson, D. (2017). Developing pre-professional identity in undergraduates through workintegrated learning. *Higher Education*, 74(5), 833–853. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-016-0080-2</u>
- Jackson, D., & Bridgstock, R. (2021). What actually works to enhance graduate employability? The relative value of curricular, co-curricular, and extra-curricular learning and paid work. *Higher Education: The International Journal of Higher Education Research*, 81(4), 723– 739. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-020-00570-x</u>
- James-Constantine, O. L. S. (n.d.). Exploring stakeholder dissonance and the business graduate employability skills gap: A qualitative multiple case study [D.B.A., Northcentral University]. Retrieved September 5, 2022, from <u>http://www.proquest.com/eric/docview/2128016787/abstract/6565872C12244087PQ/1</u>
- Jamil, R. (2004). Human capital: A critique. Jurnal Kemanusiaan, 2(2), Article 2.
- Kilgo, C. A., Ezell Sheets, J. K., & Pascarella, E. T. (2015). The link between high-impact practices and student learning: Some longitudinal evidence. *Higher Education*, 69(4), 509– 525. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-014-9788-z</u>
- Kim, J., Miller, S. M., Hwang, J., & Olson, J. S. (2021). Female first-generation college students: A review of challenges and successes. *Journal of Global Education and Research*, 5(2), 136–150.
- Kinzie, J. & Gonyea, R. (2018, February 23). The HIP landscape at public institutions: Exploring variation in intention and participation by student characteristics [Conference presentation]. High-Impact Practices in the States Annual Conference, Dominguez Hills, CA. <u>https://hdl.handle.net/2022/24260</u>
- Kinzie, J., McCormick, A.C., Gonyea, R.M., Dugan, B., & Silberstein, S. (2020). Assessing quality and equity in high-impact practices: Comprehensive report. [Initial report on project findings submitted to Lumina Foundation].
- Koc, E. & Koncz, A. (2009). *Job Outlook 2010*. National Association of Colleges and Employers.
- Kuh, G. D. (2008). *High-impact educational practices: What they are, who has access to them, and why they matter.* Association of American Colleges and Universities.
- Lareau, A., & Weininger, E. B. (2003). Cultural capital in educational research: A critical assessment. *Theory and Society*, *32*(5–6), 567–606.
- Lingard, B., Taylor, S., & Rawolle, S. (2005). Bourdieu and the study of educational policy: Introduction. *Journal of Education Policy*, 20(6), 663–669. https://doi.org/10.1080/02680930500238838

- Lisá, E., Hennelová, K., & Newman, D. (2019). Comparison between employers' and students' expectations in respect of employability skills of university graduates. *International Journal of Work-Integrated Learning*, 20(1), 71–82.
- Lozano, J.B. & Tilman, T.S. (2016). *Research brief: 2016 college senior survey*. Higher Education Research Institute, UCLA.
- Low, M., Botes, V., De La Rue, D., & Allen, J. (2016). Accounting employers' expectations— The ideal accounting graduates. 10(1), 36–57.
- Ma, P.-W. W., & Shea, M. (2021). First-generation college students' perceived barriers and career outcome expectations: Exploring contextual and cognitive factors. *Journal of Career Development*, 48(2), 91–104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845319827650</u>
- Main, J. B., Johnson, B. N., Ramirez, N. M., Ohland, M. W., & Groll, E. A. (2020). A case for disaggregating engineering majors in engineering education research: The relationship between co-op participation and student academic outcomes. *International Journal of Engineering Education*, 36(1), 170-185.
- Marginson, S. (2015). *Rethinking education, work and 'employability: Foundational problems of human capital theory.* [Conference presentation] SRHE, Newport, Wales.
- Marginson, S. (2019). Limitations of human capital theory. *Studies in Higher Education*, 44(2), 287–301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2017.1359823</u>
- McCormick, A. C., Kinzie, J., & Gonyea, R. M. (2017). *High-impact practices: Is the impact positive or negative for students of color?* [Conference Presentation] Association for the Study of Higher Education.
- Messinger, L. (2004). Gay and lesbian social work students' experiences in field placement. Journal of Social Work Education, 40(2), 187–204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10437797.2004.10778489</u>
- Mokher, C. G., Park-Gaghan, T. J., & Hu, S. (2021). Does the method of acceleration matter? Exploring the likelihood of college coursetaking success across four developmental education instructional strategies. *Teachers College Record*, 123(9), 3–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/01614681211052000</u>
- Morgan, S. L., & Winship, C. (2014). Counterfactuals and causal inference: Methods and principles for social research (2nd ed.). Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107587991</u>
- Morrison, A. (2017). Bourdieu and higher education research: A bricolage approach. *Higher Education Review*, 49(3), Article 3.

- Moylan, C. A., & Wood, L. (2016). Sexual harassment in social work field placements: Prevalence and characteristics. *Affilia*, *31*(4), 405–417. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886109916644643</u>
- Nafukho, F. M., Hairston, N., & Brooks, K. (2004). Human capital theory: Implications for human resource development. *Human Resource Development International*, 7(4), 545– 551. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1367886042000299843</u>
- Nash, R. (1990). Bourdieu on education and social and cultural reproduction. *British Journal of* Sociology of Education, 11(4), 431–447. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0142569900110405</u>
- National Association for Student Personnel Administrators (2019). First-generation college students: Demographic characteristics and postsecondary enrollment. <u>https://firstgen.naspa.org/files/dmfile/FactSheet-01.pdf</u>
- National Association of Colleges and Employers (NACE) (2022). *What is career readiness?* <u>https://www.naceweb.org/career-readiness/competencies/career-readiness-defined/</u>
- National Center for Educational Statistics (2018, May). 2015-16 National postsecondary student aid study (NPSAS:16) restricted-use data file. https://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2018484
- National Center for Educational Statistics (2019a, December). 2016-17 Baccalaureate and beyond longitudinal study (B&B:16/17). https://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2020941
- National Center for Educational Statistics (2019b, October). 2012-17 Beginning postsecondary students longitudinal study restricted-use data. https://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2020504
- National Center for Educational Statistics (2021a, May). *Employment and unemployment rates* by educational attainment. <u>https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator/cbc</u>
- National Center for Educational Statistics (2021b, September). *Digest of education statistics: Table 322.10.* <u>https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d21/tables/dt21_322.10.asp</u>
- National Center for Educational Statistics (2022). College enrollment rates. *Condition of education*. <u>https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator/cpb</u>
- National Center for Education Statistics, Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS) (n.d.). *Completions component 2019-20 provisional data*.
- National Center for Education Statistics, Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS) (2022). *Student Financial Aid component final data (2008-09 - 2019-20) and provisional data (2020-21)*. <u>https://nces.ed.gov/ipeds/TrendGenerator/app/answer/8/35</u>

- National Survey of Student Engagement (2020). High-impact practices. NSSE Interactive Reports. <u>https://nsse.indiana.edu</u>
- National Survey of Student Engagement (2021). High-impact practices: Interrogating quality and equity. <u>https://nsse.indiana.edu/research/annual-results/hips/index.html</u>
- Newhook, R. (2016). Are university co-operative education students safe? Perceptions of risk to students on work terms. *Canadian Journal of Higher Education*, 46(1), 121–137. https://doi.org/10.47678/cjhe.v46i1.186042
- Ng, P. M. L., Wut, T. M., & Chan, J. K. Y. (2022). Enhancing perceived employability through work-integrated learning. *Education* + *Training*, *64*(4), 559–576. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ET-12-2021-0476</u>
- Okolo, Z. N. (2019). Capital & completion: Examining the influence of cultural wealth on firstgeneration college student outcomes [Ed.D., The George Washington University]. In *ProQuest Dissertations and Theses*.
- O'Shea, S. (2016). Avoiding the manufacture of "sameness": First-in-family students, cultural capital and the higher education environment. *Higher Education: The International Journal of Higher Education Research*, 72(1), 59–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-015-9938-y</u>
- Parker, E. T., Kilgo, C. A., Ezell Sheets, J. K., & Pascarella, E. T. (2016). The differential effects of internship participation on end-of-fourth-year GPA by demographic and institutional characteristics. *Journal of College Student Development*, 57(1), 104–109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2016.0012</u>
- Pascarella, E. T. & Terenzini, P.T. (2005). *How college affects students: A third decade of research, voulme 2.* Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Patton, L.D. (2015). Using critical race theory to (re)interpret widely-studied topics in U.S. higher education. In A.M. Martínez-Alemán, B. Pusser, & E.M. Bensimon, (*Eds.*), *Critical approaches to the study of higher education: A practical introduction*. (2015). Johns Hopkins University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/book.72242</u>
- Pitman, T. (2013). 'Miraculous exceptions': What can autobiography tell us about why some disadvantaged students succeed in higher education? *Higher Education Research & Development*, 32(1), 30–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2012.750278</u>
- Pittenger, K. S., Miller, M. C., & Allison, J. (2006). Can we succeed in teaching business students to write effectively? Business Communication Quarterly, 69(3), 257-263.
- Pryor, J.H., Hurtado, S., Saenz, V.B., Santos, J.L., Korn, W.S. (2007). *The American freshman: Forty year trends*. Higher Education Research Institute, UCLA.

- Ramirez, N., Main, J., & Ohland, M. (2015). Academic Outcomes of Cooperative Education Participation. 2015 ASEE Annual Conference & Exposition.
- Reynolds, C. L., DesJardins, S. L. (2009). The use of matching methods in higher education research: Answering whether attendance at a 2-year institution results in differences in educational attainment. In Smart, J. C. (Ed.) *Higher education: Handbook of theory and research (pp. 47–97)*. Springer.
- Rubin, D. B. (2001). Using propensity scores to help design observational studies: Application to the tobacco litigation. *Health Services & Outcomes Research Methodology*, 2, 169–188.
- Ryan, G., Toohey, S., & Hughes, C. (1996). The purpose, value and structure of the practicum in higher education: A literature review. *Higher Education*, 31(3), 355–377. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00128437</u>
- Schultz, T. W. (1961) 'Education and economic growth', in N. B. Henry (ed.) Social Forces Influencing American Education, Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Schuyler, S. W., Childs, J. R., & Poynton, T. A. (2021). Promoting success for first-generation students of color: The importance of academic, transitional adjustment, and mental health supports. *Journal of College Access*, 6(1), 12–25.
- Simons, L., Fehr, L., Blank, N., Connell, H., Georganas, D., Fernandez, D., & Peterson, V. (2012). Lessons learned from experiential learning: What do students learn from a practicum/internship? *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 24(3), 325–334.
- Smith, S., Smith, C., & Caddell, M. (2015). Can pay, should pay? Exploring employer and student perceptions of paid and unpaid placements. *Active Learning in Higher Education*, 16(2), 149–164. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1469787415574049</u>
- Stolzenberg, E. B., Eagan, M. K., Aragon, M. C., Cesar-Davis, N.M., Jacobo, S., Couch, V., & Rios-Aguilar, C. (2019a). *The American freshman: National norms fall 2017*. Los Angeles: Higher Education Research Institute, UCLA.
- Stolzenberg, E. B., Eagan, M.K., Romo, E., Couch, Tamargo, E.J., Aragon, M. C., Luedke, M., & Kang, N. (2019b). *The American freshman: National norms fall 2018*. Los Angeles: Higher Education Research Institute, UCLA.
- Stolzenberg, E. B., Aragon, M. C., Romo, E., Couch, V., McLennan, D., Eagan, M. K., & Kang, N. (2020). *The American freshman: National norms fall 2019*. Los Angeles: Higher Education Research Institute, UCLA.

Strand, K. J. (2013). Making sure they make it! Best practices for ensuring the academic success of first-generation college students. Cic/walmart college success awards report. In *Council of Independent Colleges* (p. 60).

http://www.proquest.com/eric/docview/1773215049/AAE246F88B3144CAPQ/6

- Stuart, E. A. (2010). Matching methods for causal inference: A review and a look forward. *Statistical Science*, 25(1), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1214/09-STS313
- Taylor, A., Hamm, Z., & Raykov, M. (2015). The experiences of female youth apprentices in Canada: Just passing through? *Journal of Vocational Education & Training*, 67(1), 93– 108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13636820.2014.896404</u>
- Tichavakunda, A. A. (2019). An overdue theoretical discourse: Pierre Bourdieu's theory of practice and critical race theory in education. *Educational Studies*, 55(6), 651–666. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131946.2019.1666395</u>

Thompson, Steven K. 2002. Sampling. New York: Wiley.

- Tomlinson, M. (2008). 'The degree is not enough': Students' perceptions of the role of higher education credentials for graduate work and employability. *British Journal of Sociology* of Education, 29(1), 49–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01425690701737457</u>
- Tomlinson, M. (2017). Forms of graduate capital and their relationship to graduate employability. *Education & Training*, *59*(4), 338–352. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ET-05-2016-0090</u>
- Triana, M. del C., Jayasinghe, M., & Pieper, J. R. (2015). Perceived workplace racial discrimination and its correlates: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 36(4), 491–513. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/job.1988</u>
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2021, April). Education pays: Earnings and unemployment rates by educational attainment, 2021. <u>https://www.bls.gov/emp/chart-unemployment-earnings-education.htm</u>
- US. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Division of Labor Force Statistics. (2022a). Labor Force Statistics from the Current Population Survey: 1. Employment status of the civilian noninstitutional population, 1951 to date. <u>https://www.bls.gov/cps/cpsaat01.htm</u>
- US. Bureau of Labor Statistics, Division of Labor Force Statistics. (2022b). Labor Force Statistics from the Current Population Survey: 7. Employment status of the civilian noninstitutional population 25 years and over by educational attainment, sex, race, and Hispanic or Latino ethnicity. <u>https://www.bls.gov/cps/cpsaat07.htm</u>

Valentine, J., Price, D., & Yang, H. (2021). High-impact practices and gains in student learning: Evidence from Georgia, Montana, and Wisconsin. Lumina Issue Paper. In *Lumina Foundation*. <u>http://www.proquest.com/eric/docview/2526822808/17EC6863A85142C0PQ/11</u>

- Waiwaiole, E. N., Bohlig, E. M., & Massey, K. J. (2016). Student success: Identifying highimpact practices. New Directions for Community Colleges, 2016(175), 45–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cc.20211</u>
- Walters, D., & Zarifa, D. (2008). Earnings and employment outcomes for male and female postsecondary graduates of coop and non-coop programmes. *Journal of Vocational Education & Training*, 60(4), 377–399. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13636820802591863</u>
- Wan, C.-S., Yang, J., Cheng, S., & Su, C. (2013). A longitudinal study on internship effectiveness in vocational higher education. *Educational Review*, 65(1), 36–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2011.634969</u>
- What Works Clearinghouse. (2017). *Standards Handbook Version 4.0.* https://ies.ed.gov/ncee/wwc/Handbooks
- Wick, D., Willis, T. Y., Rivera, J., Lueker, E., & Hernandez, M. (2019). Assets-based learning abroad: First-generation latinx college students leveraging and increasing community cultural wealth in Costa Rica. *Frontiers: The Interdisciplinary Journal of Study Abroad*, 31(2), 63–85.
- Wyonch, R. (2020). Work-ready graduates: The role of co-op programs in labour market success (SSRN Scholarly Paper No. 3520206). <u>https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3520206</u>
- Yosso, T. J. (2005). Whose culture has capital? A critical race theory discussion of community cultural wealth. *Race, Ethnicity and Education*, 8(1), 69–91. https://doi.org/10.1080/1361332052000341006
- Zhao, C., & Kuh, G. D. (2004). Adding value: Learning communities and student engagement. *Research in Higher Education*, 45(2), 115–138.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

Cassandra R. Kepple (she/her) is a first-generation student from West Virginia. She earned a Bachelor's of Science in Psychology and a Bachelor's of Multidisciplinary Studies (Biology, Child Development and Family Studies, and History) from West Virginia University in 2017. She earned a Master's of Arts in Higher Education Administration from West Virginia University in 2019. Cassandra will complete her Ph.D. in Higher Education from Florida State University in 2023. Cassandra's research focuses broadly on student success using quantitative methodologies, with emphasis on how programming and policy can increase students' access to, and success through, college.